อิทธิพลของ 3-เมทาคริโลซีโพรพิวไตรเมท็อกซีไซเลนปรับสภาพซิงค์ออกไซด์นาโนพาทิเคิล ที่ใส่ใน วัสดุโพลิเมทิลเมทาคริเลตต่อคุณสมบัติการต้านเชื้อรา การมองเห็นและเชิงกล



# จุหาลงกรณ์มหาวิทยาลัย

บทคัดย่อและแฟ้มข้อมูลฉบับเต็มของวิทยานิพนธ์ตั้งแต่ปีการศึกษา 2554 ที่ให้บริการในคลังปัญญาจุฬาฯ (CUIR) เป็นแฟ้มข้อมูลของนิสิตเจ้าของวิทยานิพนธ์ ที่ส่งผ่านทางบัณฑิตวิทยาลัย

The abstract and full text of theses from the academic year 2011 in Chulalongkorn University Intellectual Repository (CUIR) are the thesis authors' files submitted through the University Graduate School.

วิทยานิพนธ์นี้เป็นส่วนหนึ่งของการศึกษาตามหลักสูตรปริญญาวิทยาศาสตรดุษฎีบัณฑิต สาขาวิชาทันตกรรมประดิษฐ์ ภาควิชาทันตกรรมประดิษฐ์ คณะทันตแพทยศาสตร์ จุฬาลงกรณ์มหาวิทยาลัย ปีการศึกษา 2560 ลิขสิทธิ์ของจุฬาลงกรณ์มหาวิทยาลัย



**Chulalongkorn University** 

Effect of 3-methacryloxypropyltrimethoxysilane modified zinc oxide nanoparticles incorporated in polymethylmethacrylate material on antifungal, optical and mechanical properties



A Dissertation Submitted in Partial Fulfillment of the Requirements for the Degree of Doctor of Philosophy Program in Prosthodontics Department of Prosthodontics Faculty of Dentistry Chulalongkorn University Academic Year 2017 Copyright of Chulalongkorn University

Thesis Title	Effect of 3-methacryloxypropyltrimethoxysilane
	modified zinc oxide nanoparticles incorporated in
	polymethylmethacrylate material on antifungal,
	optical and mechanical properties
Ву	Mr. Krid Kamonkhantikul
Field of Study	Prosthodontics
Thesis Advisor	Associate Professor Mansuang Arksornnukit, DDS.,
	MS., Ph.D.

Accepted by the Faculty of Dentistry, Chulalongkorn University in Partial Fulfillment of the Requirements for the Doctoral Degree

Dean of the Faculty of Dentistry
(Assistant Professor Suchit Poolthong, DDS., Ph.D.)
THESIS COMMITTEE
Chairman
(Assistant Professor Orapin Komin, DDS., Ph.D.)
(Associate Professor Mansuang Arksornnukit, DDS., MS., Ph.D.)
Examiner
(Assistant Professor Wacharasak Tumrasvin, DDS., Ph.D.)
Examiner
(Natthavoot Koottathape, DDS., MS., Ph.D.)
External Examiner
(Professor Hidekazu Takahashi, DDS., Ph.D.)

กฤช กมลขันติกุล : อิทธิพลของ 3-เมทาคริโลซีโพรพิวไตรเมท็อกซีไซเลนปรับสภาพซิงค์อ อกไซด์นาโนพาทิเคิล ที่ใส่ในวัสดุโพลิเมทิลเมทาคริเลตต่อคุณสมบัติการต้านเชื้อรา การ มองเห็นและเชิงกล (Effect of 3-methacryloxypropyltrimethoxysilane modified zinc oxide nanoparticles incorporated in polymethylmethacrylate material on antifungal, optical and mechanical properties) อ.ที่ปรึกษาวิทยานิพนธ์หลัก: รศ. ทพ. ดร.แมนสรวง อักษรนุกิจ, หน้า.

การศึกษานี้มีจุดมุ่งหมายเพื่อหา 1) ลักษณะของอนุภาคนาโนซิงค์ออกไซด์ที่เคลือบด้วยสาร ้สามเมธาครีลอกซีโพรพิวไตรเมธอกซีไซเลน (เอ็มพีเอส) ในปริมาณต่างกันด้วยเครื่องฟลูเรียร์ทรานส์ ฟอร์ม อินฟราเรดสเปคโทรมิเตอร์ (เอฟทีไออาร์) และเครื่องวิเคราะห์การเปลี่ยนแปลงน้ำหนักของ สารโดยอาศัยความร้อน (ที่จีเอ) ก่อนและหลังการล้างด้วยสารเตตระไฮโดรฟูแรน 2) อิทธิพลของ สารเอ็มพีเอสในปริมาณต่างกัน ซึ่งเคลือบบนอนุภาคนาโนซิงค์ออกไซด์ที่ใส่ในวัสดุพีเอ็มเอ็มเอต่อ คุณสมบัติเชิงกล และ 3) อิทธิพลของอนุภาคนาโนซิงค์ออกไซด์ในปริมาณต่างกัน ที่เคลือบหรือไม่ เคลือบด้วยสารเอ็มพีเอส ซึ่งใส่ในวัสดุพีเอ็มเอ็มเอ ต่อคุณสมบัติการต้านเชื้อรา การมองเห็นและ เชิงกล ผลจากเอฟที่ไออาร์และที่จีเอแสดงถึงความสำเร็จในการเคลือบอนุภาคนาโนซิงค์ออกไซด์จาก การไซลาไนเซชั่น โมเลกุลของสารไซเลนแบบชั้นเดี่ยว มีการเรียงตัวแบบแนวนอนกับพื้นผิวอนุภาคนา โนซิงค์ออกไซด์ เมื่อวัดคุณสมบัติเชิงกล พบว่าไม่มีความแตกต่างอย่างมีนัยสำคัญระหว่างกลุ่มที่มี ้ปริมาณสารเอ็มพีเอสที่ต่างกัน (0-14.4 เปอร์เซ็นต์โดยน้ำหนัก) ซึ่งเคลือบบนอนุภาคนาโนซิงค์ออก ไซด์ที่ใส่ในวัสดุพีเอ็มเอ็มเอ ปริมาณที่ต่างกัน (1.25, 2.5 และ 5 เปอร์เซ็นต์โดยน้ำหนัก) ที่เคลือบ หรือไม่เคลือบอนุภาคซิงค์ออกไซด์ด้วยสารไซเลน ที่ใส่ในวัสดุพีเอ็มเอ็มเอ ถูกประเมินคุณสมบัติการ ต้านเชื้อรา การมองเห็น และเชิงกลด้วยวิธีสัมผัสเชื้อแบบโดยตรง การมองเห็น และการโค้งงอแบบ สามจุด พบว่าในปริมาณอนุภาคซิงค์ออกไซด์ที่เท่ากัน กลุ่มที่มีไซเลนจะมีการลดปริมาณเชื้อแคนดิดา ้อัลบิแคนได้มากกว่ากลุ่มที่ไม่ไซเลน ความแตกต่างของสีและความทึบของกลุ่มที่ไม่ไซเลนจะมากกว่า กลุ่มที่มีไซเลน ความแข็งแรงต่อการโค้งงอของกลุ่มที่มีไซเลนจะมากกว่ากลุ่มที่ไม่ไซเลนอย่างมี ้นัยสำคัญ ยกเว้นกลุ่ม 1.25 เปอร์เซ็นต์โดยน้ำหนัก สรุปได้ว่า วัสดุพีเอ็มเอที่มีการเคลือบอนุภาค นาโนซิงค์ออกไซด์ โดยเฉพาะในปริมาณ 2.5 เปอร์เซ็นต์โดยน้ำหนัก ที่มีการเคลือบด้วยสารไซเลน จะ ้มีผลในการต้านเชื้อรา มีความต่างของสีและความทึบที่น้อยกว่า เมื่อเปรียบเทียบกับกลุ่มอนุภาคซิงค์อ อกไซด์ที่ไม่ได้มีการเคลือบด้วยสารไซเลน โดยยังคงคุณสมบัติเชิงกลไว้

ภาควิชา	ทันตกรรมประดิษฐ์	ลายมือชื่อนิสิต
สาขาวิชา	ทันตกรรมประดิษฐ์	ลายมือชื่อ อ.ที่ปรึกษาหลัก
ปีการศึกษา	2560	

# # 5576051432 : MAJOR PROSTHODONTICS

KEYWORDS: ANTIFUNGAL EFFECT / OPTICAL PROPERTIES / MECHANICAL PROPERTIES / SILANIZED ZINC OXIDE NANOPARTICLES

KRID KAMONKHANTIKUL: Effect of 3-methacryloxypropyltrimethoxysilane modified zinc oxide nanoparticles incorporated in polymethylmethacrylate material on antifungal, optical and mechanical properties. ADVISOR: ASSOC. PROF. MANSUANG ARKSORNNUKIT, DDS., MS., Ph.D., pp.

This study aimed to evaluate 1) the characteristics of different amount of 3methacryloxypropyltrimethoxysilane (MPS) deposited on zinc oxide nanoparticles (ZnOnps) by Fourier transform infrared spectroscopy (FTIR) and thermogravimetric analysis (TGA) before and after tetrahydrofuran washing, 2) the effect of different MPS amount deposited on ZnOnps incorporated in PMMA material on mechanical properties, and 3) the effect of different ZnOnps amounts with or without MPS incorporated in PMMA material on antifungal, optical and mechanical properties. The FTIR and TGA results showed the success of silanization. The monolayered silane molecules were parallelly oriented on the ZnOnps surface. The different MPS amounts (0-14.4 wt%) deposited on ZnOnps incorporated in PMMA material demonstrated no significant differences on mechanical properties. The different amount (1.25, 2.5 and 5 wt%) of non-silanized (Nosi) or silanized (Si) ZnOnps incorporated in PMMA material on antifungal, optical and mechanical properties were evaluated by direct contact test, optical test and three-point bending test. With the same ZnOnps amount, the Si groups demonstrated a greater reduction in C. albicans compared with the Nosi groups. The color difference and opacity of the Nosi groups were greater when comparing with the Si groups. The flexural strength of Si groups, except for the 1.25% groups, was significantly greater compared with the Nosi groups. It was concluded that PMMA material incorporated with silanized ZnOnps, particularly 2.5% of silanized ZnOnps, had a greater antifungal effect, less color changes and opacity compared with nonsilanized ZnOnps, while retaining its mechanical properties.

Department:	Prosthodontics	Student's Signature
Field of Study:	Prosthodontics	Advisor's Signature
Academic Year:	2017	

## ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

This work was supported by Faculty Research Grant (DRF57002), Faculty of Dentistry, Chulalongkorn University.



# CONTENTS

Page	
THAI ABSTRACTiv	
ENGLISH ABSTRACTv	
ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS	
CONTENTS	
LIST OF TABLESx	
LIST OF FIGURES	
Chapter I Introduction & Literature review	
Background and Rationate	
Literature review	
Denture induced stomatitis	
Zinc oxide nanoparticles and its antimicrobial effect	
Antimicrobial mechanism of ZnOnps	
Mechanical properties of PMMA material	
Silane coupling agent and Silanization	
Factors related to silanization	
Characteristics instruments	
Optical evaluation	
Chapter II Research objectives, Research hypotheses, Expected benefits and	
Limitations	
Research objectives and research hypotheses;	
Expected benefits	
Limitations	

viii

Chapter III The optimum amount of MPS deposited on ZnOnps which showed	
better mechanical properties	. 32
Introduction	. 32
Materials and methods	. 33
Result	. 38
Discussion	. 49
Conclusion	. 54
Chapter IV The amount of non-silanized or silanized ZnOnps incorporated in	
PMMA material which provided antifungal effect	. 55
Introduction	. 55
Materials and methods	. 56
Result	. 58
Discussion	. 59
Conclusion	. 61
Chapter V The optimum amount of silanized ZnOnps incorporated in PMMA	
material which provided antifungal effect and maintaining optical and mechanical	
properties	. 62
Introduction	. 62
Materials and methods	. 63
Result	. 66
Discussion	. 73
Conclusion	. 76
Chapter VI General discussion and conclusion	77
General discussion	77

Conclusions	
REFERENCES	
APPENDIX	
νιτα	80



Page

# LIST OF TABLES

Table 1 Materials used and their compositions
Table 2 Mean (Standard deviation) of flexural strength and flexural
modulus of each experimental group
Table 3 Mean (Standard deviation) of color characteristics of each
experimental group67
Table 4 Two-way ANOVA of flexural strength of the experimental groups
for two main factors and interactions69
Table 5 Two-way ANOVA of flexural modulus of the experimental
groups for two main factors and interactions
Table 6 Mean (Standard deviation) of flexural strength and flexural
modulus of each experimental group71
<b>พ</b> ่ จหาลงกรณ์มหาวิทยาลัย

**Chulalongkorn University** 

# LIST OF FIGURES

Figure 1 The reactive oxygen species production by zinc oxide particles7
Figure 2 The chemical structure of silane coupling agent
Figure 3 The silane molecules deposited onto the metal oxide surface13
Figure 4 The chemical structure of 3-
methacryloxypropyltrimethoxysilane15
Figure 5 The spectrum of MPS deposited ZnOnps24
Figure 6 The characteristics of deposited silane molecule onto the zinc
oxide surface. A. free C=O bond found in perpendicular
orientation of deposited silane, B. hydrogen bonded C=O bond
found in parallel orientation of deposited silane, C. multilayer
of silane molecules25
Figure 7 A thermogravimetric (TG) curve; A. represents the initial
temperature that a sample starts decomposition which the
thermobalance can detect the weight change, B. represents the
final temperature at which the weight change reaches a
maximum26
Figure 8 The FTIR spectra (range from 500-4000 $cm^{-1}$ ) of different
amount of MPS (0-14.4 wt%) which deposited on ZnOnps in
dried groups40

Figure 9 The FTIR spectra (range from 500-4000 $cm^{-1}$ ) of different
amount of MPS (0-14.4 wt%) which deposited on ZnOnps in
washed groups41
Figure 10 An enlarged section (range from 1600-1800 cm <sup>-1</sup> ) of the FTIR
spectra shown in Figure 10 (dried groups)42
Figure 11 An enlarged section (range from 1600-1800 cm <sup>-1</sup> ) of the FTIR
spectra shown in Figure 11 (washed groups)
Figure 12 The TG curve of different amount of MPS (0-14.4 wt%) which
deposited on ZnOnps before THF washing (dried groups)43
Figure 13 The TG curve of different amount of MPS (0-14.4 wt%) which
deposited on ZnOnps after THF washing (washed groups)44
Figure 14 The TG curve of the Nosi group44
Figure 15 The TG curve of 1.04 wt% of MPS deposited on ZnOnps in
dried and washed group45
Figure 16 The TG curve of 2.06 wt% of MPS deposited on ZnOnps in
dried and washed group46
Figure 17 The TG curve of 4.03 wt% of MPS deposited on ZnOnps in
dried and washed group47
dried and washed group47 Figure 18 The TG curve of 7.75 wt% of MPS deposited on ZnOnps in

Figure 19 The TG curve of 14.4 wt% of MPS deposited on ZnOnps in	
dried and washed group4	9
Figure 20 Mean and standard deviation of the growth of C. albicans in	
each experimental group. Groups with the same letter were	
not significantly different. (P<0.05)5	9
Figure 21 Photograph of the experimental groups; A. control, B. 1.25Si, C.	
1.25Nosi, D. 2.5Si, E. 2.5Nosi, F. 5Si, G. 5Nosi6	8
Figure 22 SEM images of the fractured surface of specimen (35,000x); A.	
control, B. 5Si, C. 5 Nosi7	2
Figure 23 Zn-mapping images of the surface of specimen using EDX on	
SEM (2,000x); A. 5Si, B. 5 Nosi7	3

จุฬาลงกรณ์มหาวิทยาลัย Chulalongkorn University

#### Chapter I

### Introduction & Literature review

#### Background and Rationale

At present, the ratio of senescent population continuously increased. In 2030, the older Thai people ratio was estimated to be around 40.97% of total population that tripled from 14.3% in 2000.<sup>1</sup> The elderly people generally have physiological changes and are susceptible to chronic diseases such as diabetes mellitus, and oral diseases, etc. Poor oral health in elderly people is considered in affecting quality of life. Recently, the national oral health survey collected the Decayed, Missing, and Filled teeth (DMFT) score of the Thai elderly people (60-74 years) and demonstrated that the highest proportion of score was the missing teeth which averaged 13.38 per older adults. The percentage of the elderly who had loss all of the tooth varied from 5.9% in the North to 19.7% in the Central.<sup>2</sup> All of these problems are the challenge to public health system which must be solved by the appropriate method in order to improve the quality of life.

Denture has been used to rehabilitate patients with missing teeth. It enhances masticatory function, esthetics, phonetic and particularly improves the quality of life. Material mostly used for denture fabrication is polymethylmethacrylate (PMMA). The daily toothbrushing is recommended to denture wearers to maintain the hygiene of the denture and to reduce the quantity of microorganism on the denture.<sup>3,4</sup> However, PMMA can be reservoirs of microorganisms which are the etiology of many oral diseases. A cross-sectional study demonstrated that the elderly denture wearer showed a 6.9-times higher probability of developing oral candidiasis compared with non-wearers.<sup>5</sup> *Candida albicans (C. albicans)* is the most common causative pathogen of oral candidiasis<sup>5</sup>; the disease associated with fungal infection. Denture induced stomatitis is one form of candidiasis.<sup>6</sup> The topical and/or systematic antifungal drugs are used in treating an oral fungal infection. Several studies suggested methods to disinfect the infected denture, such as ultrasonic soaking<sup>7</sup>, microwave energy<sup>8</sup>, and incorporation of metal/metal oxide into PMMA.<sup>9-13</sup>

Zinc oxide (ZnO), a metal oxide, is widely used in dentistry as a restorative luting material, root canal filling material and temporary restoration. Many studies demonstrated the effectiveness of these particles on inhibiting the growth of fungi<sup>11,14</sup> and bacteria.<sup>15-19</sup> This metal oxide varies in particle size ranging from microns to nanometers.<sup>12,14,17</sup> However, nanosized particles with a high surface energy result in the aggregation of the particles. Particle aggregation generates weak points in the material. However, surface modification of these particles prevents the formation of aggregated nanoparticles.<sup>20-22</sup>

To date, there are limited information about the antifungal, optical and mechanical properties of PMMA incorporated with surface modified ZnOnps.

#### Literature review

#### Denture induced stomatitis

Oral candidiasis is the disease associated with fungal infection which can be categorized into 5 forms as follows;

- 1. Pseudomembranous candidiasis (oral thrush)
- 2. Acute atrophic (erythematous) candidiasis (antibiotic sore mouth)
- 3. Chronic erythematous (atrophic) candidiasis
- 4. Chronic hyperplastic candidiasis (candida leukoplakia)
- 5. Angular cheilitis

Denture induced stomatitis or denture sore mouth or chronic erythematous (atrophic) candidiasis is one form of candidiasis.<sup>6</sup> *C. albicans* is the most common causative pathogen. Moreover, *C. glabrate, C. tropicalis* and *C. krusei* can also cause this disease. The prevalence of *Candida* species increases in denture wearers because dentures decrease the flow of oxygen and saliva especially in the maxillary denture which cover the whole palate. Generally, clinical sign of denture stomatitis exhibits diffuse erythema of denture-covering mucosa and papillary hyperplasia.

Denture induced stomatitis mostly occurs in patients with predisposing factors, such as poor denture hygiene, immunocompromised disorder, xerostomia and age of the denture.<sup>6</sup> Moreover, elderly patient is also a risk

factor for denture induced stomatitis due to their reduced cell mediated immunity that may lead to fungal infection.

The use of topical drugs, such as nystatin clotrimazole, and/or systematic antifungal drugs, such as ketoconazole, itraconazole, are the treatment of choice in treating an oral fungal infection. However, the primary fungal reservoir in contaminated denture may not be eliminated. The disinfection of the fungal reservoir within denture should be performed. Several studies suggested methods of disinfection as follows;

- 1. Mechanical removal by daily denture brushing:<sup>3,4</sup> This method is easy and cheap. An effective and nonabrasive cleanser should be used with daily denture brushing. However, due to the low abrasive resistance of PMMA material, the denture brushing can create deep scratches where act as the microbial reservoirs which unable to clean. Moreover, this method need compliances especially for handicapped patient.
- 2. Chemical agent soaking<sup>23</sup>: A previous study recommended that 100% white vinegar was an effective disinfection method for acrylic resins. However, only chemical soaking may be not effective in removing the denture plaque which highly adheres and has adverse effect. For example, sodium hypochlorite soaking can cause reduction in surface hardness, flexural strength and discoloration.
- 3. Ultrasonic cleaner<sup>7</sup>: This method is reliable and simple. It is recommended to use for 15 min after daily brushing without any detergents.

- 4. Microwave irradiation<sup>8</sup>: This method is recommended using 450 Watt of power setting for 3 min in 200 mL of deionized water. The irradiation can raise up the temperature. However, the final temperature of water is 77 °C which is less than the glass transition temperature of PMMA material (Tg = 100.4 °C)
- 5. Incorporated antimicrobial agents into denture base material such as incorporation of metal/metal oxide into PMMA.<sup>9-13</sup>

Many metal/ metal oxides incorporated into PMMA material have been studied. Silver nanoparticles are of interest because of their biocompatibility and antimicrobial effect. A previous study<sup>9</sup> demonstrated 1 µg/mL of silver nanoparticles, calculated from the volume of methyl methacrylate monomer, incorporated in microwave-cured PMMA material reduced the amount of *C. albicans* cell (American type culture collection (ATCC) 90026). Nam et al.<sup>13</sup> demonstrated that 20% (w/w) of silver nanoparticles, calculated from the weight of PMMA powder, reduced the amount of *C. albicans* cell (ATCC 60026). However, the incorporation of silver nanoparticles into PMMA caused discoloration of PMMA<sup>13</sup>and reduction in flexural strength<sup>9</sup>.

## Zinc oxide nanoparticles and its antimicrobial effect

Zinc oxide (ZnO), a metal oxide, is a white powder that is insoluble in water and odorless. This inorganic compound is widely used in dentistry by adding into a restorative luting material, root canal filling material and temporary restoration. This metal oxide varies in particle size ranging from microns to nanometers.<sup>12,14,17</sup> Many studies demonstrated the effectiveness of these particles on inhibiting the growth of fungi<sup>11,14</sup> and bacteria.<sup>15,16,18,19,24</sup> Jones et al.<sup>25</sup> studied the antibacterial effect of six metal oxides nanoparticles; MgO, TiO<sub>2</sub>, CuO, CaO, CeO<sub>2</sub> and ZnO and found that among nanoparticles, ZnOnps showed the inhibition of growth of various microorganisms in the visible light condition. The inhibition effect depended on particle size, concentration and type of microbes. Small particle size and high concentration of ZnO resulted in better antimicrobial activity.<sup>11,14,17,24</sup> Cierech et al.<sup>11</sup> demonstrated the antifungal effect of PMMA material coated with ZnOnps onto the surface by ultrasonic method. It was claimed as a quick and effective method of treating denture stomatitis. However, it should be noted that the denture must be daily brushed which could eliminate the coating layer resulted in the reduction of antifungal effect.

# Chulalongkorn University

### Antimicrobial mechanism of ZnOnps

The mechanism of antifungal activities of ZnOnps is still ambiguous. On the one hand, the mechanism of ZnOnps was the generation of reactive oxygen species such as hydrogen peroxide, superoxide anion and hydroxyl radical in water suspension as shown in Figure 1.<sup>14,17</sup> The generated oxygen species could penetrate into cell membrane and caused cell death. Furthermore, the antifungal effect of ZnOnps suspension increased when activated by both UV and visible light.<sup>14,17,24</sup>

 $ZnO + h\mathbf{U} \longrightarrow e^{-} + h^{+}; \qquad h^{+} + H_{2}O \longrightarrow OH + H^{+}$   $e^{-} + O_{2} \longrightarrow O_{2}^{-}; \qquad O_{2} + H^{+} \longrightarrow HO_{2}^{-}$   $HO_{2}^{-} + H^{+} + e^{-} \longrightarrow H_{2}O_{2}$ 

Figure 1 The reactive oxygen species production by zinc oxide particles.

On the other hand, the soluble Zn ion was released from the nanoparticles.<sup>18</sup> Then, the positive ion of Zn could interact with negative charge ion of lipopolysaccharide in cell membrane by electrostatic attraction resulting in disruption of the cell membrane. However, a previous study<sup>17</sup> mentioned that Zn ions at low concentration was not toxic and might be used as a supplement in promoting the metabolic action of bacteria. Raghupathi et al.<sup>24</sup> studied the antifungal effect of Zn ion using the atomic absorption spectrophotometry and found that the amount of Zn ions releasing from ZnOnps were very low resulted in no antimicrobial effect. They believed that the antimicrobial effect of ZnOnps is mainly from the action of ZnOnps rather than free Zn ions. They proposed two mechanisms of antimicrobial effect of ZnOnps; (1) the production of reactive oxygen species (2) deposition of the ZnOnps on the microbial surface or cumulation of ZnOnps in the cytoplasm resulted in the disruption of cellular function and disorganization of microbial cell membrane. Dutta et al.<sup>26</sup> also explained the deposition of the ZnOnps in the microorganisms, so called "internalization", that ZnOnps could be internalized via the transport channel on the cell membrane. Another possible mechanism was the adherence of ZnOnps on the microbial surface resulted in physical blockages of the transport channel of the cell membrane. The transportation of cellular nutrients from media were hindered, resulted in cell starvation and cell death.

## Antimicrobial methods

Minimum inhibitory concentration (MIC) is the lowest concentration which could inhibit the growth of microorganism. It could be determined by serial dilution of antimicrobial concentration such as broth dilution test, agar dilution test. Minimum fungicidal concentration (MFC) is the lowest concentration which kill the fungi. The MFC value is determined by sub culturing the last clear MIC tube onto the medium agar until no colonies were found. Actually, the MFC value is higher than the MIC value. A previous investigation<sup>12</sup> studied the antifungal effect of ZnOnps (averaged particle size of 26nm) against *C. albicans* 14053 and reported that the MIC value was established at 0.75 mg/mL level. Lipovsky et al.<sup>14</sup> also reported that the ZnOnps concentration of 1 mg/mL exhibited the 99.5% reduction of *C. albicans* cell which is considered almost complete killing.

The agar diffusion or disc diffusion test is an antimicrobial method. The principle of this method is to place sample discs containing an antimicrobial on an agar plate which microbes were spread on. Then, the agar plate is incubated. If an antibiotic can stop the bacteria from growing or kill the microbes, the halo, so-called a zone of inhibition (area of no microbes or no growth), around the sample will appear. A high antimicrobial effect results in a large inhibition zone while small zone means low antimicrobial effect.

Sevinc et al.<sup>15</sup> investigated the antibacterial effect of composite resin containing ZnOnps by disc diffusion test. The results indicated that no inhibition zones around the sample. They explained that insolubility of ZnOnps prevented the diffusion of a sufficient amount of Zn ion into the surrounding medium agar to express antibacterial effect. Hojati et al.<sup>19</sup> also studied the antimicrobial effect of ZnOnps. They mentioned that the results of disc diffusion test were in agreement with Sevinc et al.<sup>15</sup> as no inhibition zone was formed around the test specimens. They stated that the disc diffusion test and MIC were the important conventional methods for determining the antimicrobial effect of material. Mostly, these methods used to investigate the effect of antibiotics which was based on water-soluble antimicrobial substances. However, these methods might not be valid for ZnOnps testing because of its low solubility.

The direct contact test is a method for evaluating the solid material that has low solubility. The principle of this method is the measurement the antimicrobial effect in close contact between microbes and the tested sample. The small amount of microbial suspension was placed onto the sample surface and allowed the suspension to evaporate resulted in the decrease of suspension volume. The microbes were forced to be approximate with the sample surface, which has an antimicrobial agent, resulted in either the growth inhibition or cell death.

#### Mechanical properties of PMMA material

The flexural strength (FS) and flexural modulus (FM) of heatpolymerizable material must not be lower than 65 MPa and 2 GPa, respectively according to ISO specification 20795-1.<sup>27</sup> A three-point bending test was used to evaluate FS and FM of the bar-shaped specimens (64×10×3.3 mm). A universal testing machine used at a crosshead speed of 5 mm/min with a support span width of 50 mm. FS and FM were calculated according to the following equations:

 $FM = F_1L^3/4BH^3D$ where, F = the maximum load (N),  $F_1$  = the load at a point in straight line portion of the load/defection curve (N), L = the support span width (mm), B = the width of the specimen (mm), H = the thickness of the specimen (mm), D = the deflection at load  $F_1$  (mm).

 $FS = 3FL/2BH^2$ 

Some studies examined the different amounts of ZnOnps that affected the mechanical properties of composite resin materials by mixing ZnOnps without any surface modification directly into the composite resins.<sup>15,16,19</sup> To date, there is no study about mechanical properties of denture base material incorporated with ZnOnps. The ZnOnps exposed on the surface of the polymer might be hydrolyzed because of no chemical bond between resin matrix and metal nanoparticles. As a result, their antimicrobial activities are lost. Furthermore, nano-sized particles with a high surface energy easily aggregate among each other. Particle aggregation generates weak points within the material resulted in low mechanical properties. However, surface modification of these particles prevents the formation of aggregated nanoparticles.<sup>20,21</sup> Xia et al.<sup>22</sup> demonstrated that the FS and microhardness of composite resin containing modified TiO<sub>2</sub> nanoparticles due to the better dispersion in the matrix and smaller clusters.

## Silane coupling agent and Silanization

Silane coupling agents create a bond between organic and inorganic materials. These agents consist of two terminal functional groups; organofunctional groups, which establish bond with organic resin, and hydrolysable groups, which create bond with inorganic materials. The typical chemical structure of silane coupling agent is shown in Figure 2. A previous study<sup>28</sup> reported that only small amount of silane coupling agent could provide better mechanical properties and durability of composite resin after 28 days of aging.



Figure 2 The chemical structure of silane coupling agent

A mechanism of silanization divided into two main processes<sup>29</sup> as shown in Figure 3. Hydrolysis process begins with the moisture or solvent, for examples water, ethanol, acetone, hydrolyzes the alkoxy group of the silane molecule and results in silanol group. In the closed system, the silanol group is reversible between attaching to and releasing from the hydroxyl group on the filler surface via hydrogen bond. This mechanism is a dynamic and reversible process. Liu et al.<sup>30</sup> studied the result of thermogravimetric analysis on silica particles, which were immediately rinsed with methanol after hydrolysis, and found that no weight loss from deposited silane molecules. It indicated that the silane molecule were physically adsorbed onto the silica surface and were completely rinsed off with methanol. In the open system, loss of water molecules occurs by increasing temperature or vacuum. The condensation process gradually rises and causes the less intermolecular distance. Finally, the silane molecule is absorbed onto the filler via covalent bond between the silanol group of silane molecules and the hydroxyl group of filler.



Figure 3 The silane molecules deposited onto the metal oxide surface

The first layer of silane molecule attached on the filler surface via covalent bond is called "Chemisorbed silane". While, the outer silane layer which bonds onto the first layer via Van der Waals force or hydrogen bond is called "Physisorbed silane". Moreover, silane molecules, especially in high concentration, can create hydrogen bond among each other so called "homocondensated silane".

## Factors related to silanization

1. Type of silane coupling agent

Silane coupling agents are diversity depended on the functional group such as vinyl groups, methacryloxy groups, and amino group, etc. A previous study<sup>31</sup> demonstrated the different silane coupling agents and solvents affected the shear bond strength of PMMA bonding to alumina. They of the silane coupling compared 3 types agent namely 3methacryloxypropyltrimethoxysilane (MPS), 3-aminopropyltriethoxysilane (APS) and N-2 (aminoethyl) 3-aminopropyltriethoxysilane (AAPS) and 3 types of solvent namely ethanol, toluene and isopropanol. They found that MPS and APS in ethanol groups provided the highest bond strength. AAPS has longer linker length than APS and higher MW than MPS and APS. They assumed that the longer silane molecules could not be effectively deposited onto the alumina filler due to the steric hindrance effect.

Linker length is a backbone in the silane structure which links between the hydrolysable group and organofunctional group. If the linker length is long, the organofunctional group can extend from the substrate surface resulted in greater mobility and steric hindrance effect. The typical linker length should be less than three carbon atoms.

3-methacryloxypropyltrimethoxysilane (MPS) is a common silane coupling agent used in dentistry due to its small molecular structure which cause less steric hindrance. The chemical structure is shown in Figure 4.



Figure 4 The chemical structure of 3-methacryloxypropyltrimethoxysilane

2. The amount of silane coupling agent

Nishiyama et al.<sup>32</sup> studied the amount of silane deposited on silica filler after drying at room temperature after 14 days and indicated that with lesser amount of monolayer-coverage, all silane molecules were deposited onto the silica filler as chemisorbed silane. The amount of physisorbed silane could not be observed from GPC chromatograms. The FTIR result at low concentration of MPS indicated the absorbance peak of carbonyl group (C=O) bond at 1706 cm<sup>-1</sup> which corresponding to hydrogen bonded C=O group. However, at high concentration of silane coupling agent and when chemisorbed silane was saturated, the remaining silane molecules could deposit on the first layer of chemisorbed silane; physisorbed silane. The physisorbed silane could then be observed. By increasing the amount of silane, the high MW of physisorbed silane was formed as oligomer. The FTIR result at high concentration of MPS indicated the new absorbance peak of C=O bond at 1726 cm<sup>-1</sup> which corresponding to free C=O group.

Arksornnukit et al.<sup>28</sup> studied the effect of the amount of MPS deposited on spherical-shaped silica filler (1.5 µm of averaged particle size), which incorporated in composite resin, on flexural properties after 28 days-

aging. By varying the amount of MPS from 0 to 5.45 mass% which exceeded the monolayer coverage (0.66 mass%), they denoted that the amount of MPS has a slight effect on the FS and hydrolytic durability. Moreover, they also mentioned that the existence of physisorbed silane did not affect the hydrolytic stability of the composite resin.

Sideridou et al.<sup>33</sup> studied the flexural properties of composite resin containing with 5 different amounts of MPS, 1-10 wt% deposited onto the surface of silica filler. The averaged silica particle size was 40 nm. They found that FS showed insignificant differences among groups.

Chaijareenont et al.<sup>34</sup> studied the effect of the amount of MPS (0-0.4%) deposited on spherical-shaped alumina particles (18-23 µm of particle size) on flexural properties. They advocated that 0.1 mass% of MPS was expected to form a monolayer of MPS on the alumina particle surface base on the calculation from Arkle's equation<sup>35</sup>. The silanized alumina particles were incorporated in PMMA material. They demonstrated that FS of PMMA material incorporated with 0.1-0.4% MPS showed insignificant difference.

Kanie et al.<sup>36</sup> studied the flexural properties of PMMA material containing various concentration of MPS without filler particle incorporation and reported that there was no difference among FS and FM in PMMA material that containing MPS from 0 to 6 mol%. This attributed to the molecular chain of MPS which is longer than that of methyl methacrylate monomer (MMA). Consequently, the PMMA material containing MPS might

be more flexible than that containing pure MMA due to increasing of specific volume.

3. Type of solvent

Many solvents were used in silanization such as methanol, ethanol, isopropanol, acetone, and water, etc. Liu et al.<sup>30</sup> indicated that silanization of silica particle using toluene was quite difficult to handle because silica particle mixed with toluene formed gel-like mixture and required high temperature (60 °C) while stirring. They also studied the amount of MPS deposited on the silica surface with different solvent using thermogravimetric analysis. They found that the total amount of deposited silane in acetone was greater than that of 95% aqueous ethanol. However, after methanol washing, the amount of attached silane (chemisorbed silane) in aqueous ethanol was greater than that of acetone.

4. Water content in silane solution

### จหาลงกรณมหาวทยาลย

Water for hydrolysis can come from many sources such as by adding, on the substrate surface, and atmosphere. Mostly, adding the water in silane solution play an important role in the hydrolysis process. The hydrolysis rate of the hydrolysable group in the silane molecule is controlled by the amount of water in the silane solution. A previous study<sup>37</sup> investigated the characteristics of chemisorbed and physisorbed silane which deposited on silica filler in one day in terms of the amount of water content in silane solution. They demonstrated that the amount of water content should be slightly less than or equivalent to 30 volume%, calculated from ratio between water and ethanol in silane solution. The amount of chemisorbed silane increased by increasing the amount of water content up to 30% and then remained unchanged even though increasing the water content over 30%. Mostly, low MW of physisorbed silane occurred when water content was less than 30%. When, the amount of water content exceeded 30%, silane molecules was rapidly hydrolyzed. The amount of chemisorbed silane adsorbed onto the filler surface was limited. Thus, the remaining hydrolyzed silane molecules could homo-condensate and became high molecular weight (MW) physisorbed silanes such as tetramer as observed by gel permeation chromatography (GPC) chromatograms. The high MW of physisorbed silane can cause the degradation of silane bi-layer (chemisorbed and physisorbed silane) leading to the low hydrolytic stability because high MW silane has less silanol groups resulted in low probability to form bond. This decrease the cohesional force between silane bi-layer.

5. pH of silane solution

In the solution system, the acidic condition accelerated the hydrolysis process and decelerated the intermolecular condensation by stabilizing the Si-OH groups. This resulted in low MW silane species which were chemisorbed onto the filler surface.<sup>32</sup> However, the deposition behavior was quite different between the solution system and the deposited system. In the deposited system, an acid hastened the hydrolysis mechanism of the hydrolyzable group in the silane molecule. In the meantime, the solvent of silane solution such as ethanol was evaporated resulted in the pH changes

and less intermolecular distance. The hydrolyzed silane molecules could self-condense and form the high MW silane species. Therefore, the MW of the silane molecules under acidic condition was higher than under non-acidic conditions. When condensation mechanism began, in acidic condition, high MW silane molecule such as tetramer species was probably chemisorbed on the filler surface and hindered the deposition of other molecules on the filler surface resulted in a low amount of chemisorbed silane. While in non-acidic condition, monomer and dimer was adsorbed onto the filler surface resulted in a high amount of chemisorbed silane. Within the same amount of silane molecules, the remaining silane molecules or physisorbed silane under acidic condition was greater than under non-acidic. The large amount of physisorbed silane could homocondense and form the multilayer silane which led to low hydrolytic stability. Therefore, the addition of hydrochloric acid to the silane solution lower the hydrolytic stability of the silane bi-layer in the silane deposited system.<sup>38</sup> Furthermore, cross-polarization/ magicangle spinning <sup>29</sup>silicone nuclear magnetic resonance (CP/MAS <sup>29</sup>Si NMR) result demonstrated that most of the chemisorbed silane under acidic condition was vastly hydrolyzed until no silanol group were left which leading to less chance to create hydrogen bonding with physisorbed silane resulted in low hydrolytic stability. The same investigators also studied the tensile bond strength of resin on the silica plate before and after degradation in hot water (90 °C). Before degradation, tensile strength of both condition increased with increasing the amount of MPS. However, after degradation, tensile strength in acidic condition was less than that in non-acidic condition.

They concluded that the hydrolytic stability of the silane multilayer (chemisorbed and physisorbed silane) depended on the adsorption characteristics of the silane molecules. Nakornchai et al.<sup>39</sup> studied the pH effect of solvent on flexural properties of heat-cured acrylic resin containing silanized fluoride-releasing filler and reported that the FS of non-adjusted pH was greater than that of acidic-adjusted pH group.

In contrast, a previous study<sup>40</sup> investigated the different pH of silanization (pH 1, 4, and 6) and reported that there was no effect of pH on hydrolytic durability of composite in terms of flexural properties. The different result might be explained by the different silica particle size and evaluation method.

6. Drying temperature

Liu et al.<sup>30</sup> stated that the drying process promoted the formation of covalent bonding between either silane/silane or silane/filler. A previous study<sup>37</sup> focused on the effect of drying temperature (heat treatment) in condensation mechanism. They found that by increasing the drying temperature from 25 up to 80 °C, the MW of physisorbed silane increased due to the homocondensation, but the amount of chemisorbed silane was normally steady. However, when the drying temperature was raised up to 110 °C, the amount of chemisorbed silane is dramatically increased. This phenomenon is explained by the high MW of physisorbed silane was condensed and turned to chemisorbed layer resulted in the occurrence of multilayer of chemisorbed which was easily degraded and resulted in low

hydrolytic stability. Moreover, chemisorbed silane after heating up to 100 °C was very stable by tri-dentate bonding and no silanol group available to create hydrogen bond with silanol group of the physisorbed silane as shown by CP/MAS <sup>29</sup>Si NMR result. This resulted in low cohesional force which mostly was Van der Waals attraction force. It demonstrated in low tensile strength. This report was also in line with Arksornnukit et al.<sup>40</sup> that by heating up to 110 °C in drying process might promote the chemisorbed silane, the condensation of the silane molecules and also polymerization of the vinyl group (organofunctional group, C=C) which led to the reduction of FS. The scanning electron microscope (SEM) image of the fracture surface of 110 °C demonstrated the obviously poor bonding between filler and resin matrix.

7. Drying time

Nishiyama et al.<sup>32</sup> studied the drying time of MPS deposited on silica particle at room temperature and found that the amount of chemisorbed silane deposited on the silica surface dramatically increased within 1 day and continued gradually increased until 14 days and then reached the plateaus. With the increased of the drying time, the amount of physisorbed silane decreased while the proportional of high MW of physisorbed silane molecules increased.

## 8. Type of filler

Ishida and Miller<sup>41</sup> demonstrated that filler particles have unique surface acid/base functionalities. For example, the clay sample has an acidic surface at pH 4.1, zinc oxide sample has a neutral surface at pH 7.4, and the calcium carbonate sample has a basic surface at pH 9.4. They concluded from the FTIR data that the neutral-surfaced substrate has high retention of MPS after washing the substrate with tetrahydrofuran which indicating a high amount of chemisorbed silane. While, the acidic and basic-surfaced substrate has less amount of chemisorbed silane. Even though, the same type of filler can have different aqueous slurry pH values and the amount of hydroxyl group on the surface, depending on the nature of production techniques.

Bressy et al.<sup>20</sup> studied the amount of hydroxyl group on the ZnOnps surfaces by the calculation of percent weight loss from thermogravimetric analyzer. They compared the results between commercially ZnOnps and the synthesized ZnOnps and found that the amount of hydroxyl group of the synthesized ZnOnps was greater than that of the commercially ZnOnps. The explanation of the low amount of hydroxyl group was that the commercially ZnOnps are produced at high temperature in synthetic process, which the annealing treatment could reduce the defects of the crystalline structure of oxides leading to a decrease of hydroxyl group concentration. The amount of hydroxyl groups on the filler surface have an influence on the amount of deposited silane. By increasing the amount of hydroxyl group, the probability of creating bond between the hydrolyzed silane molecules and hydroxyl
group of filler particles increased. The MPS deposited onto the synthesis ZnOnps was preferentially perpendicularly oriented while the MPS deposited onto the commercially ZnOnps was parallelly oriented.

Karabela et al.<sup>42</sup> studied the amount of MPS deposited on silica filler with different averaged particle size of fumed amorphous silica, ranged from 7 to 40 nm and indicated that with decreasing the silica particle size resulted in an increase of the amount of MPS deposited on filler surface.

#### Characteristics instruments

1. Fourier Transform Infrared Spectroscopy (FTIR)

FTIR is a method to characterize the chemical structure of the substance. It demonstrates specific bands which result from molecular vibration when the substance absorbs an IR radiation. The principle of FTIR is that a bond of each chemical structure or functional group have different frequencies of molecular vibration.

FTIR have many handling techniques such as transmission (conventional), diffuse reflectance (DRIFTS), etc. Attenuated total reflectance (ATR) is one of the handling techniques. The advantages of this techniques are minimal sample preparation which no need to grind or press into pellets, fast and easy for cleaning after measurement. The ATR technique works by measuring the changes of an internally reflectance infrared (IR) beam. When IR beam is emitted from the IR source and passed through the crystal which contact to the sample, the sample absorbs some energy. The internally reflectance IR beam is attenuated and exits the opposite site of the crystal and the detector in the spectrometer. The detector will translate the signal of attenuated IR beam into an IR spectral band.

The MPS deposited on oxide surface was studied by FTIR spectroscopy as shown in Figure 5. The absorption bands around 498, 1110, 1634, 2800-3000 cm<sup>-1</sup> represented the functional group of Zn-O, Si-O-Si, C=C, hydrocarbon chain, respectively.



Figure 5 The spectrum of MPS deposited ZnOnps

#### จุหาลงกรณ์มหาวิทยาลัย

Two important absorption bands in the MPS study should be notified.<sup>20,30,33,43,44</sup> The band at 1700-1702 cm<sup>-1</sup> represents the hydrogen bonded C=O group while another at 1718-1720 cm<sup>-1</sup> represents the free C=O group. In monolayer silane absorbed onto filler, two orientations of silane molecules was proposed. The perpendicular orientation occurs at high concentration of MPS absorbed on the filler surface which only silanol group of MPS created bond with hydroxyl group on the filler surface. The C=O of MPS that does not create bond with hydroxyl group is called "free C=O

bond" as shown in Figure 6A. While, the parallel orientation mostly occurs at low concentration of MPS absorbed on the filler surface which silanol group and C=O of MPS created bond with hydroxyl group on the filler surface. This C=O created bond is known by "Hydrogen bonded C=O bond" as shown in Figure 6B. Therefore, FTIR can be used to explain the orientation of the MPS molecule on the filler surface. However, in terms of multilayer silane, both absorption band can be observed as shown in Figure 6C. Miller and Ishida<sup>43</sup> demonstrated that the surface area occupied by a silane molecule is 0.55 nm<sup>2</sup>, corresponding to 1.8 molecules MPS/nm<sup>2</sup> when MPS parallelly oriented on the filler surface. While, MPS perpendicularly oriented on the filler surface, it occupied less area, 0.24 nm<sup>2</sup>/molecule, corresponding to 4.16 molecules MPS/nm<sup>2</sup>.



Figure 6 The characteristics of deposited silane molecule onto the zinc oxide surface. A. free C=O bond found in perpendicular orientation of deposited silane, B. hydrogen bonded C=O bond found in parallel orientation of deposited silane, C. multilayer of silane molecules

#### 2. Thermogravimetric Analysis (TGA)

The principle of TGA is that a measurement of the weight change of a sample using a programmed precision balancer when increasing temperature with time in a furnace, under a controlled environment such as heating rate, gas atmosphere, and flow rate. The weight change is the decomposition of the sample. The results are displayed by a thermogravimetric (TG) curve which is normally plotted between the percent of weight change on the Y-axis and temperature or time on the X-axis as shown in Figure 7.



Figure 7 A thermogravimetric (TG) curve; A. represents the initial temperature that a sample starts decomposition which the thermobalance can detect the weight change, B. represents the final temperature at which the weight change reaches a maximum.

A previous study<sup>20</sup> investigated the MPS deposited onto the ZnO particles and claimed that the thermal degradation of the MPS could divided into two main steps of weight loss. The first step was physisorbed silane which generally removing within a temperature range of 30-250 °C. The second step was chemisorbed silane which is removed in higher temperature

range (250-550°C). Furthermore, the homocondensated silane could also be decomposed at temperature of 420-430 °C.

### Optical evaluation

Many methods have been introduced to evaluate the color characteristics of a material. Visual measurement using shade tab in Munsell color system is convenience and low cost.<sup>45</sup> However, this method is subjective, depending on various factors such as the mood and experiences of the observer, and illumination. A spectrophotometer is a reliable method to quantify the color characteristics of a material. The most commonly utilized color system for color assessment is the CIELAB system, which defines the color characteristics as L\*, a\* and b\*.<sup>46-53</sup> L\* represents brightness, a\* represents the red-green coordinates and b\* represents the yellow-blue coordinates. The CIELAB system can mathematically express the color difference ( $\Delta$ E) between the two objects. The following equations were used:<sup>54</sup>

$$\Delta E = [(L_{1}^{*}-L_{2}^{*})2 + (a_{1}^{*}-a_{2}^{*})2 + (b_{1}^{*}-b_{2}^{*})^{2}]^{1/2}$$

Where,  $L_1^*$ ,  $a_1^*$ ,  $b_1^*$  = the mean value of the first group,  $L_2^*$ ,  $a_2^*$ ,  $b_2^*$  = the mean value of the second group.

Opacity is another optical property of a material, representing the ability of a material to block the passage of light.<sup>46</sup> Opacity is based on the

ratio of the reflectance of the material when backed by a black background compared with a white background. The following equations were used:<sup>54</sup>

Opacity = 
$$(Y_1/Y_2) \times 100$$

Where,  $Y_1$  = brightness of specimen backed by black background,  $Y_2$  = brightness of specimen backed by white background.

According to an increased demand in esthetic, especially color appearance, researchers have attempted to find a threshold to determine a color difference for standardize in dental field. Mostly, thresholds of visual color differences were developed from evaluations of the color of denture teeth<sup>47,48</sup> or ceramic specimens within the tooth color range<sup>52</sup>. The threshold presented as 50/50% perceptibility and 50/50% acceptability. The 50/50% perceptibility threshold, which 50% of observers could detect a difference in color between two objects, was 1.2<sup>52</sup>, 1.9<sup>47</sup>, and 2.6<sup>48</sup>. While 50/50% acceptability threshold, which 50% of observers accept the difference of the color into the mouth, was 2.7<sup>52</sup>, 4.2<sup>47</sup>, and 5.5<sup>48</sup>. However, the color parameters especially L\*, between tooth and gingiva might not correlate<sup>25</sup>. The same study demonstrated that the color of gingiva depended on type (attached gingiva or alveolar mucosa) and location in the mouth. A previous study demonstrated the threshold for detecting of gingival color differences  $(\Delta E = 3.1 \pm 1.5)^{53}$ . A previous study<sup>49</sup> measured the L\*, a\* and b\* of healthy human gingiva and reported that most subjects had L\* ranged from 50.6 to 57.2, a\* ranged from 22.6 to 27 and b\* ranged from 12.4 to 15.6.

# Chapter II

# Research objectives, Research hypotheses, Expected benefits and Limitations

# Research objectives and research hypotheses;

1. To find the amount of non-silanized or silanized ZnOnps incorporated in

PMMA material which provided antifungal effect

First hypothesis

H1<sub>0</sub>: There would be no significant differences on the antifungal effect among groups (PMMA incorporated with different amounts of ZnOnps with or without silanization).

H1<sub>a</sub>: There would be significant differences on the antifungal effect among groups (PMMA incorporated with different amounts of ZnOnps with or without silanization).

# จุฬาลงกรณ์มหาวิทยาลัย

2. To find the optimum amount of MPS deposited on ZnOnps incorporated

in PMMA material which provided better mechanical properties

Second hypothesis

H2<sub>0</sub>: There would be no significant differences on the mechanical properties among groups (PMMA incorporated with different amount of MPS deposited on ZnOnps).

H2<sub>a</sub>: There would be significant differences on the mechanical properties among groups (PMMA incorporated with different amount of MPS deposited on ZnOnps).

3. To find the optimum amount of non-silanized or silanized ZnOnps incorporated in PMMA material which provided antifungal effect and maintaining optical and mechanical properties

Third hypothesis

H3<sub>0</sub>: There would be no significant differences on the optical characteristics among groups (PMMA incorporated with different amounts of ZnOnps with or without silanization).

H3<sub>a</sub>: There would be significant differences on the optical characteristics among groups (PMMA incorporated with different amounts of ZnOnps with or without silanization).

# **CHULALONGKORN UNIVERSITY**

Forth hypothesis

H4<sub>0</sub>: There would be no significant differences on the mechanical properties among groups (PMMA incorporated with different amounts of ZnOnps with or without silanization) between storage times (48 h and 1 month).

H4<sub>a</sub>: There would be significant differences on the mechanical properties among groups (PMMA incorporated with different amounts of ZnOnps with or without silanization) between storage times (48 h and 1 month).

## Expected benefits

This research is the frontier in utilizing silanized ZnOnps in PMMA material to accomplish new denture base material. This modified material has an antifungal effect which might be use in treating fungal infection in denture wearers. By adding the particles, the material should maintain its optical and mechanical properties. The insight investigation of MPS deposited ZnOnps might be applied to other restorative materials. This also reflects the new knowledge in silane coupling agent.

## Limitations

#### จุฬาลงกรณ์มหาวิทยาลัย

This experimental design limited only in vitro and a short-term evaluation. The long-term evaluation of the antifungal effect of PMMA material incorporated with silanized ZnOnps both in vitro and in vivo is recommended.

#### Chapter III

# The optimum amount of MPS deposited on ZnOnps which showed better mechanical properties

## Introduction

ZnO is a water insoluble white powder. The addition into the material is to enhance the material properties, especially antimicrobial effect. ZnOnps becomes popular as the additive in the material due to its high antimicrobial effect. However, the nano-sized particle which is easy to aggregate among each other becomes the weak point in the material. Surface modification of ZnOnps by silanization is necessary to increase the distance between ZnOnps to prevent aggregation which might enhance mechanical properties. In addition, this perhaps renders in the better antimicrobial material.

Many factors influence the silanization such as type, amount of silane coupling agent, pH, temperature during silanization, etc. These factors lead to different characteristics of the deposited silane molecule on the oxide surface and affect the mechanical properties. An excess amount of silane coupling agent over monolayer coverage results in the physisorbed silane deposited over the chemisorbed silane. It is believed that physisorbed silane which create a weak bond with chemisorbed silane might responsible to the hydrolytic instability of the material. Thus, the optimum amount of silane molecules should be used to enhance the mechanical properties of material. Moreover, FTIR spectroscopy and TGA instrument were used, to understand the characteristics of the deposited silane molecules.

Therefore, the objectives of the present study were to find the optimum amount of MPS deposited on ZnOnps which showed better mechanical properties and to understand the characteristics of MPS deposited on the ZnOnps surface by FTIR spectroscopy and TGA instrument. The null hypothesis was that there would be no significant differences on the mechanical properties among groups (PMMA incorporated with different amount of MPS deposited on ZnOnps).

# Materials and methods

Silanization of ZnOnps

Table 1 Materials used and their compositions

	S.		
Material/Product	Manufacturar	Batch	Composition
name	ivianuracturer	Number	Composition
Zinc oxide	Nano Materials	190411	Zinc oxide: (purity > 99.5%, average
nanoparticles/ ZoNoP	Technology Co.,		particles size 20-40 nm, specific
	Ltd. Chonburi,		surface area 26.22 m <sup>2</sup> /g)
	Thailand		
Heat-cured denture	Ivoclar	R84665	Powder: Polymethylmethacrylate
base material/ SR	Vivadent,		Liquid: Methyl methacrylate,
Triplex Hot	Schaan,		Ethylene glycol dimethacrylate
	Liechtenstein		
Silane coupling agent/	Sigma-Aldrich,	SHBD3265V	Methacryloxypropyltrimethoxysilane
3- trimethoxysilyl	St. Louis, MO,		(MPS)
propyl methacrylate	USA		

The materials used and their compositions in this study are listed in Table 1. The amount of MPS, varied from 1.04 (x/8), 2.06 (x/4), 4.03 (x/2), 7.75 (1x) and 14.4 (2x) weight%, were calculated from Arkle's equations<sup>35</sup> as demonstrated below:

The amount of MPS = (the amount of ZnOnps x specific surface area of ZnOnps)/ specific surface area of MPS

The specific surface area of MPS =  $314 \text{ m}^2/\text{g}$ 

The solution consisting of different amount of MPS and 70 volume% ethanol, was magnetically-stirred for 60 min. ZnOnps, without any purification, were dispersed into the solution and manually triturated using mortar and pestle until the solution was almost completely evaporated. The silanized ZnOnps were then left to dry at room temperature for 14 days before use.

Part 1.1: Mechanical properties evaluation

Specimen preparation

Non-silanized (Nosi) or 1.04, 2.06, 4.03, 7.75, 14.4 wt%-silanized (Si) ZnOnps of 2.5 wt%, calculated from the weight of polymethylmethacrylate (PMMA) powder, were homogeneously mixed with liquid monomer using a vortex mixer (VTX-3000L, LMS, Tokyo, Japan) for 10 min. A mixture of pure PMMA powder and liquid monomer without ZnOnps served as the control group. Fifty-six bar-shaped (64×10×3.3 mm) specimens (n=8) were fabricated. Polyvinylsiloxane material was injected into the molds to prepare silicone patterns. The patterns were invested in flasks with dental stone. After the dental stone set, the flasks were opened and the silicone patterns were removed. The PMMA powder and liquid monomer suspension (with and without silanized ZnOnps) were mixed at a powder/liquid ratio of 23.4 g:10 mL and left until the mixture reached the dough stage. The PMMA powder and liquid monomer without additives were mixed according to the recommendation of manufacturer and used as control. The mixture was then placed into the flask and hydraulic-pressed using a conventional method. The flasks were placed in a water bath, heated up to 100 °C and let boil for 45 min to achieve polymerization according to the recommendations. After cooling to room temperature, the specimens were deflasked, the excess material was removed using a carbide bur in a low-speed rotary instrument and wet-polished using 320 and 600-grit silicon carbide paper with a polishing machine (Nano 2000, Pace Technologies, Tucson, AZ, USA). The dimensions of the specimens were measured using a digital micrometer (minimum reading: 0.001 mm, Digimatic Micrometer, Mitutoyo Corp., Kanagawa, Japan). The specimens were ultrasonically cleaned for 5 min to remove any debris and dried with compressed air.

A three-point bending test was used to evaluate FS and FM of the barshaped specimens according to ISO 20795-1.<sup>27</sup> A universal testing machine (EZ-SX, Shimadzu, Kyoto, Japan) was used at a crosshead speed of 5 mm/min with a support span width of 50 mm. FS and FM were calculated according to the following equations:

$$FS = 3FL/2BH^{2}$$
$$FM = F_{1}L^{3}/4BH^{3}D$$

where, F = the maximum load (N),  $F_1 =$  the load at a point in straight line portion of the load/defection curve (N), L = the support span width (mm), B = the width of the specimen (mm), H = the thickness of the specimen (mm), D = the deflection at load  $F_1$  (mm).

Statistical analysis

The FS and FM were separately analyzed by one-way ANOVA with groups (control, Nosi, 1.04, 2.06, 4.03, 7.75, and 14.4) at P<0.05. Tukey HSD's comparison test was used when homogeneity of variance was observed while Games-Howell comparison test was used when homogeneity of variance was rejected.

Part 1.2: The characteristics of silanized ZnOnps

The characteristics of silanized ZnOnps were studied. After 14-day storage time, 0.4 g of each ZnOnps groups (1.04, 2.06, 4.03, 7.75, and 14.4) was placed in two 1.5-mL micro-centrifuge tubes. The Nosi groups was used as baseline. The first tube of each group was labelled as "dried" groups. The second tube of each group, one milliliters tetrahydrofuran (THF) was added

and vortexed for 1 min. THF was selected because the Hildebrand solubility parameter of THF<sup>55</sup> is 9.52 cal<sup>1/2</sup> cm<sup>-3/2</sup> which was close to MPS (8.66)<sup>56</sup>. It is also easy to evaporate at room temperature. The suspension was centrifuged using high speed centrifuge machine (6K15, Sigma Laborzentrifugen GmbH, Osterode am Harz, Germany) at 10,000 rpm for 10 min. Then, the supernatant solution was discarded into quartz cuvette to measure an absorbance peak at a wavelength of 250 nm using UV-VIS spectrophotometer (Nicolet Evoluation 500, Thermo Electron Corp., Madison, WI, USA). This procedure was repeated until no absorbance peak was detected to ensure complete removal of physisorbed silane deposited on the ZnOnps. After the last decant, ZnOnps after THF washing was left to dry at room temperature for 1 day. The second tube was labeled as "washed" groups. All tubes were investigated to observe the characteristics of MPS that deposited on ZnOnps using the instruments as follows;

# จุหาลงกรณ์มหาวิทยาลัย

Fourier Transform Infrared Spectroscopy (FTIR)

An alpha ATR-FTIR spectroscopy (Equinox 170, Bruker Optik GmbH, Ettlingen, Germany) was used to understand chemical structure of the ZnOnps. The data were recorded in the spectral range from 500 to 4000  $\rm cm^{-1}$ , with 64 scans and a resolution of 4  $\rm cm^{-1}$  in absorbance mode.

Thermogravimetric Analysis (TGA)

A thermogravimetric analyzer (TG 209 F3 Tarsus, NETZSCH Gerätebau GmbH, Selb, Germany) was used to measure the weight loss (wt%) of MPS that deposited on ZnOnps. The data were recorded in the temperature range between 35-700 °C with a heating rate of 10 °C/min and nitrogen flux of 100 mL/min.

#### Result

One-way ANOVA of the flexural strength data demonstrated significant differences among experimental groups (P=0.003) while that of the flexural modulus results indicated insignificant differences among experimental groups (P=0.094). The flexural strength of Nosi group shows a significant lower than that of the control group. While, the flexural strength of Si groups show insignificant differences when compared with the control group (Table 2).

จุฬาลงกรณ์มหาวิทยาลัย Chulalongkorn University

Group	Flexural strength	Flexural modulus
Control	91.93 (3.29) <sup>b</sup>	2.41 (0.07) <sup>a</sup>
Nosi	80.21 (2.84) <sup>a</sup>	2.38 (0.06) <sup>a</sup>
1.04	85.23 (2.06) <sup>a,b</sup>	2.39 (0.04) <sup>a</sup>
2.06	85.48 (5.06) <sup>a,b</sup>	2.35 (0.11) <sup>a</sup>
4.03	85.16 (5.96) <sup>a,b</sup>	2.31 (0.10) <sup>a</sup>
7.75	86.10 (6.34) <sup>a,b</sup>	2.43 (0.06) <sup>a</sup>
14.4	84.69 (6.58) <sup>a,b</sup>	2.36 (0.08) <sup>a</sup>

Table 2 Mean (Standard deviation) of flexural strength and flexural modulus of each experimental group.

Note: The value with the same superscript letters in the same column were not significantly different (P<0.05).

The FTIR spectra of dried and washed groups are shown in Figure 8-11. The absorption band at 1110 and 2800-3000 cm<sup>-1</sup> of dried groups (Figure 8) increased with increasing the MPS amount. In contrast, the absorption band at 1110 and 2800-3000 cm<sup>-1</sup> of washed groups (Figure 9) increased with increasing the MPS amount until 2.06 wt% of MPS and then remained constant. Figure 10 and 11 shows the enlarged section of FTIR spectra of dried and washed groups in the spectral range of 1600-1800 cm<sup>-1</sup>. The single absorption bands at 1702 cm<sup>-1</sup> was observed at 1.04 wt% of MPS amount. The absorption band at 1634 and 1720 cm<sup>-1</sup> was observed at higher MPS amount than 1.04 wt%. In dried groups, the band at 1634 and 1720  $\rm cm^{-1}$  increased with increasing the MPS amount, while, the band at 1634 and 1720  $\rm cm^{-1}$  in washed groups remained no change.



Figure 8 The FTIR spectra (range from 500-4000 cm<sup>-1</sup>) of different amount of MPS (0-14.4 wt%) which deposited on ZnOnps in dried groups.



3900 3700 3500 3300 3100 2900 2700 2500 2300 2100 1900 1700 1500 1300 1100 900 700 500

Figure 9 The FTIR spectra (range from 500-4000 cm<sup>-1</sup>) of different amount of MPS (0-14.4 wt%) which deposited on ZnOnps in washed groups.



Figure 10 An enlarged section (range from 1600-1800 cm<sup>-1</sup>) of the FTIR spectra shown in Figure 10 (dried groups).



Figure 11 An enlarged section (range from 1600-1800 cm<sup>-1</sup>) of the FTIR spectra shown in Figure 11 (washed groups).

The TG curve of Nosi, 1.04, 2.06, 4.03, 7.75 and 14.4 wt% of MPS deposited on ZnOnps before and after THF washing are shown in Figure 12-19, respectively. All groups show two-step weight loss, while only the Nosi group shows one-step weight loss that occurred around 250 °C. The first step of all groups, except the Nosi group, occurred between 220 and 320 °C followed by the second step occurred between 320 and 500 °C. In the dried groups, the second step increased a reduction with increasing the MPS amount, while, the second step in the washed groups gradually declined at the same level.







Figure 13 The TG curve of different amount of MPS (0-14.4 wt%) which deposited on ZnOnps after THF washing (washed groups).



Figure 14 The TG curve of the Nosi group.



Figure 15 The TG curve of 1.04 wt% of MPS deposited on ZnOnps in dried and washed group.

**CHULALONGKORN UNIVERSIT** 



Figure 16 The TG curve of 2.06 wt% of MPS deposited on ZnOnps in dried and washed group.





Figure 17 The TG curve of 4.03 wt% of MPS deposited on ZnOnps in dried and washed group.

47





จุฬาลงกรณ์มหาวิทยาลั Chulalongkorn Univers





# Discussion

#### the precent study was to investig

The aim of the present study was to investigate the flexural properties of PMMA material incorporated with different amounts of MPS deposited on ZnOnps. Statistical analysis indicated that there were significant differences on flexural strength data among groups while there were insignificant differences on flexural modulus data among groups. Therefore, the null hypothesis was rejected for flexural strength while accepted for flexural modulus.

FTIR spectroscopy was used to understand the characteristic of functional groups of substances. In the present study, the various amount of

MPS molecules deposited on the ZnOnps surface before and after THF washing were studied in the FTIR spectral range of 500-4000 cm<sup>-1</sup>. The FTIR spectra after THF washing confirmed the existence and effectiveness of silanization of ZnOnps. The absorption bands at 1110, 1634, 1702, 1720 and 2800-3000 cm<sup>-1</sup> represented the functional group of Si-O-Si, vinyl (C=C bond), hydrogen bonded carbonyl, free carbonyl and hydrocarbon chain (C-H bond). At low MPS amount (1.04 wt%), only absorption band at 1702 cm<sup>-1</sup> was found in the spectral range of 1600-1800 cm<sup>-1</sup>. This indicated that not only the silanol group of MPS molecules and the hydroxyl group of ZnOnps created Si-O-Zn bond, the carbonyl group of MPS molecules also created hydrogen bond on the hydroxyl group on the ZnOnps surface. It could imply that the chemisorbed silane molecules were parallelly oriented. At higher MPS amount, two absorption bands at 1702 and 1720 cm<sup>-1</sup> were found. The absorption band at 1720 cm<sup>-1</sup> of dried groups was found and increased with increasing of the MPS amount. Moreover, the absorption band at 1110, 1634 and 2800-3000 cm<sup>-1</sup> also increased. This result indicated that the multilayer of silane molecules were formed as the amount of free carbonyl group, Si-O-Si, vinyl group and hydrocarbon chain of MPS molecules increased. While, the absorption band at 1720 cm<sup>-1</sup> of washed groups, ranged from 2.06-14.4 wt%, steadily constant. This result indicated that THF washing was effective to remove physisorbed silane molecules. At the MPS amount of 2.06 wt% was hypothesized to be the optimum amount of monolayer chemisorbed silane which could deposited on the ZnOnps surface in the present study. However, the MPS amount of monolayer coverage that calculated from Arkle's equation (7.75 wt%) was greater than the MPS amount from the FTIR result. It might attribute to the steric hindrance effect. The Arkle's equation might suitable for the filler in microns scales as a previously described.<sup>28</sup> However, It was interesting that at 2.06 wt% of MPS after THF washing had two absorption bands (1702 and 1720 cm<sup>-1</sup>). This result might be explained by a high molecular weight silane molecule which had both hydrogen bonded carbonyl and free carbonyl group deposited on the ZnOnps surface.

According to Miller and Ishida<sup>43</sup>, the silane molecule oriented parallelly to the oxide surface occupied 0.55 nm<sup>2</sup>, while the silane molecules oriented perpendicularly occupied less area (0.24 nm<sup>2</sup>). In this study, it was found that monolayer silane molecule occupied 0.51 nm<sup>2</sup> of ZnOnps surface which could imply that chemisorbed silane molecule in this study parallelly oriented. This result also correspondence with Bressy et al.<sup>20</sup> that the commercial ZnOnps had low hydroxyl group density on the surface resulted in a parallel orientation of the monolayer silane molecules. In contrast, the synthesized ZnOnps had higher amount of hydroxyl group, therefore, a perpendicular orientation of silane molecules was mostly found.

The characteristics of the deposited MPS was studied by TGA instrument. The TG curve also confirmed the existence and the effectiveness of ZnOnps silanization. The TG curve of the Nosi group, ZnOnps without silanization, revealed one-step weight loss around 250 °C which corresponded to the impurities of the commercial ZnOnps. The TG curve of all dried and washed groups of different amounts of MPS revealed two-step weight loss at 220-320 °C and 320-500 °C. The first step might be due to the

impurities, that also found in the Nosi group. The physisorbed silane was not obviously observed in the TG curve. This might be due to the homocondensation among physisorbed silane molecules during an increase of temperature in the furnace. In the dried groups, the second step show greater reduction with increasing the MPS amount. This result indicated the decomposition of chemisorbed silane and homocondensated silane as shown in the previous study<sup>20</sup> which indicated that the homocondensated silane was decomposed at 420-430 °C. After THF washing, the physisorbed silane and homocondensated silane were totally rinsed off. Therefore, the second step of TG curve in all washed groups demonstrated almost the same reduction, which corresponded to the decomposition of chemisorbed silane. When compared between dried group and washed group of the same MPS amount, it was found that the second-step weight loss of the MPS amount of 1.04 and 2.06 wt% showed the same trend in weight reduction which might be the decomposition of chemisorbed silane. In contrast, the secondstep weight loss of the higher MPS amount in dried groups showed the greater reduction when compared with the washed group. This might attribute to the decomposition of physisorbed silane or homocondensated silane which deposited on the chemisorbed silane. Therefore, the MPS amount of 2.06 wt% might be the complete monolayer coverage.

At 2.5 wt% of ZnOnps, the addition of non-silanized or silanized ZnOnps as filler did not result in an improvement in the flexural properties of PMMA material. This finding is likely due to the particles' spherical shaped and soft filler which allows stress to pass directly through the ZnOnps compared with other hard fillers such as silica or glass. However, the flexural strength and flexural modulus of the experimental groups were greater than 65 MPa and 2 GPa, respectively, as required by ISO 20795-1.<sup>27</sup>

The flexural strength of the Si groups was greater than that of the Nosi group, although, the flexural strengths of the Si groups were not significant different compared with that of the Nosi group. Silanization enhanced the dispersion of ZnOnps in the liquid monomer and decreased particle aggregation. This might attribute to the higher flexural strength in the Si groups compared to the Nosi group.

When the MPS amount exceeded the monolayered coverage amount (2.06 wt%), it was believed that the physisorbed silane was deposited on the chemisorbed silane by Van der Waals force or hydrogen bond resulted in low hydrolytic stability and a decrease in mechanical properties. In the present study, the flexural strength of various amount (1.04-14.4 wt%) of MPS deposited on ZnOnps surface which incorporated in PMMA material did not show significant differences among groups. This result was in an agreement with the previous studies.<sup>28,33,34,36</sup> This finding could be explained by the physisorbed silane, which had double bond at the terminal group, could act as a copolymer with MMA resulted in a crosslinked matrix.<sup>30</sup> Thus, it was hypothesized that the physisorbed silane might not be responsible for a negative effect on flexural strength. Other factors such as the size, shape, type and amount of filler might play a crucial role on flexural strength.

The flexural modulus of the Nosi and Si groups did not significantly change compared with the control group. The flexural modulus was influenced by filler content. However, the 2.5 wt% ZnOnps added into PMMA in this study was considered a small amount. Therefore, it did not show significant effect on flexural modulus.

# Conclusion

Within the limitation of this study, it was concluded that there were no significant differences on mechanical properties among the various amounts (0-14.4 wt%) of MPS deposited on ZnOnps which incorporated in PMMA material. Two points zero six wt% of MPS amount was the optimum amount of monolayer chemisorbed silane which deposited on the ZnOnps surface.



### Chapter IV

# The amount of non-silanized or silanized ZnOnps incorporated in PMMA material which provided antifungal effect

## Introduction

Zinc oxide (ZnO) is widely used in many industries. By adding into the material, the antimicrobial effect of the material is observed. The effectiveness of these particles as the antimicrobial in inhibiting the growth of fungi and bacteria is on the particle size and amount. Small particle size and high concentration of ZnO resulted in better antimicrobial effect. However, ZnOnps can easily aggregated among themselves and cause a reduction in the antimicrobial effect. The MPS grafting was a useful process to reduce the aggregation of ZnOnps.

From the result of the previous experiment, the flexural properties of PMMA materials which were incorporated with different amount of MPS deposited onto ZnOnps were not significantly different among groups. The result of FTIR and TGA indicated that 2.06 wt% of MPS (x/4) was the beginning point at which MPS could deposit and became saturated onto the ZnOnps surface. Therefore, this amount of MPS was applied in the next experiment.

Many antimicrobial testings were introduced to evaluate the effect of inhibition or killing microorganism such as Minimum inhibitory concentration, Minimum fungicidal concentration and agar diffusion. Mostly, these methods were used to investigate the effect of water-soluble antimicrobial substances. However, these methods might not be valid for ZnOnps testing because of the low solubility. Therefore, the direct contact test, a method for evaluating the solid material that has low solubility, was used. There is little information about antifungal effect of non-silanized or silanized ZnOnps incorporated in PMMA material.

Therefore, the objective of the present study was to find the amount of non-silanized or silanized ZnOnps incorporated in PMMA material which provided antifungal effect. The null hypothesis was that there would be no significant differences on the antifungal effect among groups (PMMA incorporated with different amounts of ZnOnps with or without silanization).

#### Materials and methods

Specimen preparation

The optimum amount (2.06 wt%) of silanized ZnOnps from part 1 was used in this part. Non-silanized (Nosi) or silanized (Si) ZnOnps of 1.25, 2.5 and 5% (w/w), calculated from the weight of polymethylmethacrylate (PMMA) powder, were homogeneously mixed with liquid monomer using a vortex mixer (VTX-3000L, LMS, Tokyo, Japan) for 10 min. A mixture of pure PMMA powder and liquid monomer without ZnOnps served as the control group. Forty-two disc-shaped (12x2 mm) specimens (n=6) were fabricated as previously described in the materials and methods part 1.1.

#### Antifungal assay

*Candida albicans*, ATCC 90028, was obtained as a stock culture from the Department of Microbiology, Faculty of Dentistry, Chulalongkorn University. The colonies were picked and transferred into a glass tube containing 3 mL of Sabouraud Dextrose broth (SDB) (HiMedia Laboratories Pvt. Ltd., Mumbai, India) and incubated overnight at 37°C. After incubation, the *C. albicans* suspension was transferred into new glass tube containing 3 mL of SDB and adjusted to achieve an optical density of 0.5-McFarland suspension using a spectrophotometer (Nicolet Evolution<sup>™</sup> 500, Thermo Electron Corp., Madison, WI, USA) at 530 nm.

0.5-McFarland standard preparation<sup>57</sup>

A BaSO<sub>4</sub> turbidity standard was used to standardize the inoculum density. The standard solution consisted of 0.5 mL of 0.048 mol/L BaCl<sub>2</sub> (1.175% w/v BaCl<sub>2</sub>•2H<sub>2</sub>O) to 99.5 mL of 0.18 mol/L H<sub>2</sub>SO<sub>4</sub> (1%v/v). With this turbidity, the spectrophotometer should show the absorbance peak at 530 nm equal to 0.3 as the 0.5-McFarland standard.

The suspension, consisting of approximately  $1.5 \times 10^6$  cell/mL was diluted 100 times and 100 µL was spread on the Sabouraud Dextrose Agar (HiMedia Laboratories Pvt. Ltd.) to confirm the initial amount of *C. albicans*.

The fungal assay was modified from a previous study.<sup>13</sup> The specimens were sterilized using low temperature steam and formaldehyde.<sup>58</sup> Disc-shaped specimens from each group were placed at the bottom of 24-well

cell culture plate (Costar, Corning, NY, USA). A 50  $\mu$ L *C. albicans* suspension was inoculated on the surface of the specimen in each well and left in the incubator with the lid slightly opened in a sterilized condition for 2 h. After a 2 h incubation, each well was filled with 950  $\mu$ L of SDB. A mixture of the suspension and SDB served as the positive control while SDB alone served as the negative control. The 24-well culture plate was shaken using an orbital shaker placed in an incubator at 37°C for 24 h. The colony-forming unit (CFU) of *C. albicans* in each well culture plate was determined using serial dilution method, followed by spreading on an agar plate. When determining the amount of *C. albicans*, only the agar plates with 20-200 CFU were counted. The amount of *C. albicans* was independently determined 6 times and averaged.

# Statistical analysis

The *C. albicans* growth data were analyzed using one-way ANOVA with groups (control, 1.25Si, 1.25Nosi, 2.5Si, 2.5Nosi, 5Si and 5Nosi) at P<0.05. Tukey HSD's comparison test was used when homogeneity of variance was observed while Games-Howell comparison test was used when homogeneity of variance was rejected.

# Result

One-way ANOVA of the *C. albicans* growth results demonstrated significant differences among experimental groups (P<0.001). The Si groups
showed a significant reduction in *C. albicans* compared with the control group, and in the Nosi groups, only the 5Nosi group showed a significant reduction (Figure 20). The reduction in *C. albicans* in the Si groups was greater than those of the Nosi groups with the same amount of ZnOnps.



Figure 20 Mean and standard deviation of the growth of C. albicans in each experimental group. Groups with the same letter were not significantly different. (P<0.05)

# Discussion

The aim of the present study was to investigate the antifungal effect of PMMA material incorporated with different amounts of silanized or nonsilanized ZnOnps. Statistical analysis indicated that there were significant differences on antifungal effect among groups. Therefore, the null hypothesis was rejected.

This study found that increased amount of silanized ZnOnps added into PMMA resulted in a significantly increased reduction in *C. albicans*, while among non-silanized groups, a significant antifungal effect was only found in the 5Nosi group. Compared with the control group, the 5Si group demonstrated the highest reduction in *C. albicans* (99%), followed by the 2.5Si group (95%). The antifungal effect of the Si groups was greater than that of the Nosi groups at the same amount of ZnOnps. The differences in antifungal effect between the Nosi and Si groups might be attributed to the distribution of ZnOnps in PMMA. It is likely that the non-silanized nanoparticles aggregated due to their high surface energy into microns scale particles resulting in a low surface-to-volume ratio and were poorly distributed in PMMA material. In contrast, during silanization, the hydroxyl groups of the ZnOnps react with the hydrolysable groups of the silane coupling agent, resulting in the silane coupling agent surrounding the ZnO particle, thus increasing the distance among ZnOnps. Therefore, the silanized ZnOnps will be well-distributed in PMMA material and maintain theirs nanoparticle size, resulting in a high surface-to-volume ratio.<sup>14,21</sup> This increased ratio led in a greater exposure area of ZnOnps on the surface in the Si groups compared with the Nosi groups. An increased contact area between the ZnOnps and *C. albicans* might contribute to the increased antifungal effect. The antifungal effect might also attribute to the dissociation of Zn ions from the ZnOnps. Zn ions can dissociate from the silane molecules because of the hydrolysable group of the silane coupling agent, which has a hydrophilic terminal. The hydrophilic terminal attracts water molecules and undergoes hydrolysis. This reaction may explain the finding that increased silane coupling agent in PMMA resulted in more water absorption.<sup>36</sup> Moreover, the dissociation energy of the Si-O bond in the silane coupling agent is higher than that of Zn-O.<sup>59</sup> Therefore, unbound Zn ions that have an antifungal effect can easily dissociated due to water absorbing into the material.

# Conclusion

Within the limitations of this study, it was concluded that increased amount of silanized ZnOnps incorporated in PMMA material resulted in a significantly increased reduction in *C. albicans*, while among non-silanized groups, a significant antifungal effect was only found in the 5Nosi group.

# Chapter V

The optimum amount of silanized ZnOnps incorporated in PMMA material which provided antifungal effect and maintaining optical and mechanical properties

## Introduction

Denture has been used to rehabilitate patients with missing teeth. It enhances masticatory function, phonetic and esthetic. However, denture can be reservoirs of microorganisms which are the etiology of many oral diseases. Many cleaning methods were introduced to denture wearer such as mechanical brushing, chemical soaking, microwave irradiation. The incorporation of antimicrobial agents into denture base material such as metal/ metal oxide was a possible method to reduce the number of microorganisms in the denture base material.

From the result of the previous experiment, we found that 1.25Si, 2.5Si, 5Si and 5Nosi groups were significantly reduced the amount of fungal cell. However, the incorporation of ZnOnps might affect other properties of denture material because ZnOnps easily aggregate among each other. Then, we continued to evaluate the optical and mechanical properties of ZnOnps incorporated in PMMA material for better understanding.

Therefore, the objective of the present study was to find the optimum amount of silanized ZnOnps incorporated in PMMA material which provided antifungal effect and maintaining optical and mechanical properties. The null hypotheses were that 1) there would be no significant differences on the optical characteristics among groups (PMMA incorporated with different amounts of ZnOnps with or without silanization). 2) there would be no significant differences on the mechanical properties among groups (PMMA incorporated with different amounts of ZnOnps with or without silanization) and storage times (48 h and 1 month).

# Materials and methods

Specimen preparation

The optimum amount (2.06 wt%) of silanized ZnOnps from part 1 was used in this part. Non-silanized (Nosi) or silanized (Si) ZnOnps of 1.25, 2.5 and 5% (w/w), calculated from the weight of polymethylmethacrylate (PMMA) powder, were homogeneously mixed with liquid monomer using a vortex mixer (VTX-3000L, LMS, Tokyo, Japan) for 10 min. A mixture of pure PMMA powder and liquid monomer without ZnOnps served as the control group. Fifty-six disc-shaped (12x2 mm) specimens for the optical properties test and 112 bars (64×10×3.3 mm) for the mechanical properties test were fabricated as previously described in the experimental part 1.

# Optical properties evaluation

A spectrophotometer (Ultrascan XE, Hunter Associates Laboratory, Inc., Reston, VA, USA) was used to observe the differences in color as determined by the CIELAB system and opacity of disc-shaped specimens from CIEXYZ system using D65 illuminant and 10-degree observer. The specimens in each group (n=8) were measured three times against the white and black background and averaged. L\* (brightness), a\* (red-green coordinate) and b\* (yellow-blue coordinate) of the CIELAB system were used to calculate the color differences of the specimens ( $\Delta$ E), and Y (brightness) of the CIEXYZ system was used to evaluate the opacity of the specimens. The following equations were used:<sup>54</sup>

$$\Delta E = [(L_{1}^{*}-L_{2}^{*})2+(a_{1}^{*}-a_{2}^{*})2+(b_{1}^{*}-b_{2}^{*})^{2}]^{1/2}$$

Where,  $L_1^*$ ,  $a_1^*$ ,  $b_1^*$  = the mean value of the first group,  $L_2^*$ ,  $a_2^*$ ,  $b_2^*$  = the mean value of the second group.

$$Opacity = (Y_1/Y_2) \times 100$$

Where,  $Y_1$  = brightness of specimen backed by black background,  $Y_2$  = brightness of specimen backed by white background.

# จุหาลงกรณ์มหาวิทยาลัย

Mechanical properties evaluation

A three-point bending test was used to evaluate FS and FM of the barshaped specimens according to ISO 20795-1.<sup>27</sup> Sixteen specimens from each experimental group were randomly divided into two subgroups (n=8) based on a storage time in 37°C deionized water for 48 h or 1 month before testing. A universal testing machine (EZ-SX, Shimadzu, Kyoto, Japan) was used as previously described in the materials and method part 1.1. Scanning electron microscope (SEM) observation and energy dispersive X-ray (EDX) analysis

Fractured surfaces of the bar-shaped specimens of the control, 5Si and 5Nosi groups after the three-point bending test were randomly selected, gold-sputter coated and observed using SEM (Quanta 250, FEI Company, Eindhoven, The Netherlands) under acceleration of 20 kV and magnification of 35,000x.

One specimen was selected from the 5Si and 5Nosi groups, carbonsputter coated and observed using the EDX detection system built into the SEM instrument (JSM-5410LV, JEOL Ltd., Tokyo, Japan). Zn-mapping images of the surfaces were captured at an acceleration voltage of 20 kV and a magnification of 2,000x.

Statistical analysis

## จุหาลงกรณ์มหาวิทยาลัย

The L\*, a\*, b\* and opacity data were analyzed using one-way ANOVA at P<0.05. The FS and FM were separately analyzed by two-way ANOVA with groups (control, 1.25Si, 1.25Nosi, 2.5Si, 2.5Nosi, 5Si and 5Nosi) and storage time (48 h and 1 month) as main factors at P<0.05. Tukey HSD's comparison test was used when homogeneity of variance was observed while Games-Howell comparison test was used when homogeneity of variance was rejected.

# Result

One-way ANOVA of L\*, a\*, b\* and opacity demonstrated significant differences among the experimental groups (P<0.001) (Table 3). Photograph of the experimental groups demonstrated color change of the specimens as the amount of non-silanized or silanized ZnOnps increased (Figure 21). Increasing amounts of ZnOnps added into PMMA resulted in increased L\*,  $\Delta E$ , and opacity in both the Nosi and Si groups. In contrast, a greater decrease in a\* and b\* was observed as the amount of ZnOnps increased.  $\Delta E$  and opacity of the Nosi groups were greater than those of the Si groups containing the same amount of ZnOnps.

จุหาลงกรณ์มหาวิทยาลัย Chulalongkorn University

Table 3 Mean (Standard deviation) of color characteristics of each

Group	L*	a*	b*	ΔE	Opacity
Control	59.86 (0.30) <sup>a</sup>	21.48 (0.24) <sup>g</sup>	14.95 (0.13) <sup>f</sup>	-	71.3 (1.0) <sup>a</sup>
1.25Si	66.06 (0.29) <sup>b</sup>	20.55 (0.28) <sup>f</sup>	8.58 (0.26) <sup>e</sup>	8.9	87.0 (0.8) <sup>b</sup>
1.25Nosi	69.48 (0.24) <sup>c</sup>	19.77 (0.14) <sup>e</sup>	6.36 (0.33) <sup>c</sup>	13.0	91.6 (0.6) <sup>c</sup>
2.5Si	70.04 (0.34) <sup>d</sup>	19.39 (0.18) <sup>d</sup>	7.33 (0.17) <sup>d</sup>	12.9	91.6 (0.9) <sup>c</sup>
2.5Nosi	74.54 (0.23) <sup>e</sup>	17.25 (0.14) <sup>c</sup>	5.11 (0.15) <sup>b</sup>	18.2	95.8 (0.5) <sup>d</sup>
5Si	75.42 (0.30) <sup>f</sup>	16.54 (0.31) <sup>b</sup>	5.30 (0.22) <sup>b</sup>	19.0	96.7 (0.7) <sup>d</sup>
5Nosi	78.43 (0.22) <sup>g</sup>	14.94 (0.09) <sup>a</sup>	4.74 (0.15) <sup>a</sup>	22.2	98.0 (0.3) <sup>e</sup>

Notes: The values with the same superscript letters in the same column were not significantly different (P<0.05). "-" indicates no data.

Abbreviation:  $\Delta E$ =the color differences between corresponding group (non-silanized or silanized ZnOnps) and control group.

จุฬาลงกรณ์มหาวิทยาลัย Chulalongkorn University



Figure 21 Photograph of the experimental groups; A. control, B. 1.25Si, C. 1.25Nosi, D. 2.5Si, E. 2.5Nosi, F. 5Si, G. 5Nosi.

Two-way ANOVA of flexural strength data demonstrated significant differences only among the experimental groups (P<0.001) while that of the flexural modulus results indicated significant differences on storage time (P=0.015) and interactions (P=0.006) as demonstrated in Table 4 and 5.

จุฬาลงกรณ์มหาวิทยาลัย Chulalongkorn University

Sourco	Type III Sum	df	Mean	E	Cia	
JOUICE	of Squares	ui	Square	Ι	אוכ.	
Corrected	7064 Q <sup>a</sup>	13	543.5	24.0	.000	
Model	1004.9					
Intercept	820347.6	1	820347.6	36265.9	.000	
Group	6910.7	6	1151.8	50.9	.000	
Storage time	2.8	1	2.8	.1	.724	
Group *	1512	6	25.2	1.1	.359	
Storage time	101.5					
Error	2216.8	98	22.6			
Total	829629.3	112				
Corrected	0201 7	111				
Total	9201.1					

Table 4 Two-way ANOVA of flexural strength of the experimental groups for two main factors and interactions.

a. R Squared = .761 (Adjusted R Squared = .729)

Chulalongkorn University

Courco	Type III Sum	df	Mean	E	Cia	
Source	of Squares	ŭ	Square	Г	ડાષ્ટુ.	
Corrected	.2 <sup>a</sup>	13	.0	2.3	.010	
Model						
Intercept	681.1	1	681.1	93458.8	.000	
Group	.0	6	.0	.7	.649	
Storage time	.0	1	.0	6.1	.015	
Group *	.1	6	.0	3.3	.006	
Storage time						
Error	.7	98	.0			
Total	682.1	112				
Corrected	.9	111				
Total						

Table 5 Two-way ANOVA of flexural modulus of the experimental groups for two main factors and interactions.

a. R Squared = .234 (Adjusted R Squared = .133)

# Chulalongkorn University

Therefore, the flexural strength data of the two storage times were pooled and analyzed. Post hoc's multiple comparison tests with means and standard deviation of the flexural strength and flexural modulus are shown in Table 6.

Table 6 Mean (	Standard	deviation)	of flexural	strength	and fle	exural	modulı	JS
of each experir	nental gro	oup.						

Group	Flexural strength	Flexural modulus		
droup		48 h	1 month	
Control	92.92 (5.08) <sup>c</sup>	2.51 (0.05) <sup>ab</sup>	2.39 (0.09) <sup>a</sup>	
1.25Si	92.85 (3.26) <sup>c</sup>	2.52 (0.08) <sup>ab</sup>	2.44 (0.06) <sup>ab</sup>	
1.25Nosi	89.57 (3.78) <sup>c</sup>	2.48 (0.06) <sup>ab</sup>	2.41 (0.06) <sup>a</sup>	
2.5Si	89.81 (5.35) <sup>c</sup>	2.43 (0.13) <sup>ab</sup>	2.48 (0.07) <sup>ab</sup>	
2.5Nosi	81.78 (5.52) <sup>b</sup>	2.50 (0.04) <sup>ab</sup>	2.47 (0.06) <sup>ab</sup>	
5Si	83.03 (3.84) <sup>b</sup>	2.49 (0.11) <sup>ab</sup>	2.51 (0.05) <sup>ab</sup>	
5Nosi	69.13 (5.79) <sup>a</sup>	2.54 (0.04) <sup>b</sup>	2.44 (0.06) <sup>ab</sup>	

Note: The values with the same superscript letters in the same column were not significantly different (P<0.05).

Between 48 h and 1 month of water storage, the flexural strength and flexural modulus of the experimental groups did not significantly change. Compared with the control group, the flexural strengths of the 1.25Si, 1.25Nosi, and 2.5Si groups were not significantly different, and the flexural moduli of the experimental groups were not significantly different at the same storage time. The flexural strength of the Si groups was significantly greater than those of the Nosi groups with the same amount of ZnOnps except for the 1.25% groups. Increased amount of ZnOnps resulted in increased reduction in the flexural strength; however, the flexural modulus did not show the same trend. The fractured surface of the bar-shaped specimens of the control and 5% groups were observed using SEM (Figure 22). The Si group image demonstrated well distributed ZnOnps on its surface (Figure 22B), while that of the Nosi group showed aggregated ZnOnps on the fractured surface as indicated by white arrows (Figure 22C).



Figure 22 SEM images of the fractured surface of specimen (35,000x); A. control, B. 5Si, C. 5 Nosi.

The Zn-mapping images from EDX analysis demonstrated the distribution of Zn on the surface of the 5% groups (Figure 23). In the 5Si group, the ZnOnps were evenly dispersed (Figure 23A), however, in the 5Nosi group, the ZnOnps were densely aggregated in some areas (Figure 23B).



Figure 23 Zn-mapping images of the surface of specimen using EDX on SEM (2,000x); A. 5Si, B. 5 Nosi.

# Discussion

The aim of the present study was to investigate the optical and mechanical properties of PMMA material incorporated with different amounts of non-silanized or silanized ZnOnps that provided antifungal effect. Statistical analysis indicated that there were significant differences on optical and mechanical properties among groups. Therefore, the null hypotheses were rejected.

This study clearly shown that adding ZnOnps caused drastic color changes as also demonstrated in a previous study of silver nanoparticles.<sup>13</sup> A previous study demonstrated that the threshold for detecting gingival color differences was  $3.1\pm1.5$ .<sup>53</sup> The  $\Delta$ E of all groups exceeded the threshold established for color acceptability in dentistry ( $\Delta$ E=2.7).<sup>52</sup> Furthermore, the  $\Delta$ E and opacity of the Nosi and Si groups increased as the amount of ZnOnps added into PMMA. These changes in the optical characteristics of a material

are a common disadvantage of incorporating metal oxide into PMMA. Therefore, the use of metal oxide should take into account the possible color change, especially in the esthetic zone. However, the color of the gingiva of the denture can be clinically corrected by extrinsic coloration. Interestingly, it is found that adding ZnOnps resulted in increased L\*, indicating that the material became brighter. Therefore, it may be possible to clinically correct the color by staining PMMA denture base material.<sup>60</sup> Extrinsic coloration can be easily performed clinically to reduce the brightness of the material than with low-brightness material such as denture base incorporated with silver. Discoloration of silver particles due to oxidative reaction causes a metallic appearance of the denture base.

At the same amount of ZnOnps, the  $\Delta E$  and opacity of the Nosi groups was greater than those of the Si groups. This result might be explained by the even distribution of the silanized ZnOnps. Aggregation of the nonsilanized ZnOnps resulted in almost completely blocking the transmission of light and a drastic color change. In contrast, silanization enhanced the distribution of the ZnOnps. Thus, the ZnOnps were homogeneously blended into the mixture between PMMA powder and liquid monomer resulting in less color and opacity changes. Notably, the  $\Delta E$  and opacity between the Nosi and Si groups decreased as the amount of ZnOnps increased. This result suggests that silanization has little effect on the  $\Delta E$  and opacity when large amounts of ZnOnps were added.

The flexural strength and flexural modulus of the experimental groups after 48 h and 1 month of water storage were greater than 65 MPa and 2 GPa, respectively, as required by ISO 20795-1.<sup>27</sup> Flexural strength is influenced by various factors such as the size, shape, and amount of filler; and especially silanization.<sup>36,61</sup> In the present study, flexural strength was ZnOnps amountdependent, especially in the Nosi groups. The flexural strength of the Si groups was greater than that of the Nosi groups at the same amount of ZnOnps except for the 1.25% groups, which were not significantly different. This indicated that a small amount of ZnOnps did not affect the mechanical properties of PMMA. However, increased amount of ZnOnps resulted in more filler aggregations that were weak points in the specimen. Silanization enhanced the dispersion of ZnOnps in the liquid monomer and decreased particle aggregation. This may be why the flexural strength of the Si groups was higher compared with the Nosi groups. Furthermore, fillers play an important role in improving the mechanical properties of a material. As demonstrated in a previous study, whisker shaped aluminum borate filler was tailored to confront the breakage stress, improving the mechanical properties of PMMA.<sup>61</sup> However, the addition of ZnOnps as filler in the present study did not result in an improvement in the mechanical properties of PMMA. This finding is likely due to the particles' spherical shaped which results in stress being evenly transferred through the resin matrix of the specimen. Moreover, ZnO is a soft filler, which allows stress to pass directly through the ZnO compared with other hard fillers such as silica or glass filler.

The flexural modulus of the Nosi and Si groups did not significantly change compared with the control group at each water storage time in this study. The flexural modulus was influenced by filler content. However, the 5% ZnOnps added into PMMA in this study was considered a small amount. Therefore, it did not show significant effect on flexural modulus.

# Conclusion

Within the limitation of this study, it was concluded that the  $\Delta E$  of non-silanized and silanized groups exceeded the threshold established for color acceptability in dentistry ( $\Delta E$ =2.7). Only the flexural strengths of the 1.25Si, 1.25Nosi, and 2.5Si groups were not significantly different when compared with the control group. While, the flexural moduli of the experimental groups were not significantly different at the same storage time.



### Chapter VI

# General discussion and conclusion

## General discussion

This research is the first to use silanized ZnOnps incorporated into PMMA to create the material that has an antifungal effect while maintaining its mechanical properties. It has been also demonstrated that the additional of ZnOnps in PMMA had a detrimental effect on the optical properties of PMMA. It was felt that the increased antifungal effect outweighs the color change because the color change can be adjusted using extrinsic coloration. However, future studies can determine the optimal concentration of ZnOnps incorporated in PMMA that results in a balance between the antifungal effect and the detrimental effect on opacity. Moreover, the addition of secondary filler which has refractive index close to PMMA and harder than ZnOnps may help in reinforcing the mechanical properties without causing more color change. This aspect should also be investigated in the future studies. The result of this study suggests that 2.5% Si ZnOnps incorporated into PMMA might fulfill the requirement in terms of antifungal and mechanical properties. Although the color differences of the PMMA might be an esthetic concern, this can be corrected by denture characterization using extrinsic coloration. Therefore, this nanocomposite material might be a material to inhibit the growth of *C. albicans* in the PMMA that causes denture-induced stomatitis. This material might be used as a treatment denture, a therapeutic denture used for a specific period, or for treating denture induced stomatitis

in patients, especially in the elderly patient with limited manual dexterity. However, the long-term evaluation of the antifungal effect of PMMA denture base material incorporated with silanized ZnOnps both in vitro and in vivo is recommended

# Conclusions

Within the limitations of this study, it was concluded that PMMA incorporated with silanized ZnOnps, particularly with 2.5% silanized ZnOnps, had a greater antifungal effect, less color differences and opacity compared with non-silanized ZnOnps, while retaining its mechanical properties.



#### REFERENCES

- 1. Office of the National Economic and Social Development Board. The estimation of prospected Thai populations 2000-2030. Bangkok: Office of the National Economic and Social Development Board; 2008.
- Division of Dental Public Health/ Department of Health/ Ministry of Public Health. The 6th National Oral Health Survey in Thailand 2006-2007.
  Bangkok: The Veteran Organization Publishing; 2008.
- 3. Felton D, Cooper L, Duqum I, Minsley G, Guckes A, Haug S, Meredith P, Solie C, Avery D, Deal Chandler N, American College of P. Evidence-based guidelines for the care and maintenance of complete dentures: a publication of the American College of Prosthodontists. J Prosthodont 2011; 20 Suppl 1: S1-S12.
- 4. Nishi Y, Seto K, Kamashita Y, Take C, Kurono A, Nagaoka E. Examination of denture-cleaning methods based on the quantity of microorganisms adhering to a denture. Gerodontology 2012; 29: e259-266.
- 5. Bianchi CM, Bianchi HA, Tadano T, Paula CR, Hoffmann-Santos HD, Leite Jr DP, Hahn RC. Factors Related to Oral Candidiasis in Elderly Users and Non-Users of Removable Dental Prostheses. Rev Inst Med Trop Sao Paulo 2016; 58: 17.
- 6. Gleiznys A, Zdanaviciene E, Zilinskas J. Candida albicans importance to denture wearers. A literature review. Stomatologija 2015; 17: 54-66.

- 7. Kawasaki K, Kamikawa Y, Sugihara K. In vitro and in vivo removal of oral Candida from the denture base. Gerodontology 2016; 33: 247-252.
- 8. Senna PM, da Silva WJ, Cury AA. Denture disinfection by microwave energy: influence of Candida albicans biofilm. Gerodontology 2012; 29: e186-191.
- Acosta-Torres LS, Mendieta I, Nunez-Anita RE, Cajero-Juarez M, Castano VM. Cytocompatible antifungal acrylic resin containing silver nanoparticles for dentures. Int J Nanomedicine 2012; 7: 4777-4786.
- 10. Casemiro LA, Gomes Martins CH, Pires-de-Souza Fde C, Panzeri H. Antimicrobial and mechanical properties of acrylic resins with incorporated silver-zinc zeolite - part I. Gerodontology 2008; 25: 187-194.
- 11. Cierech M, Kolenda A, Grudniak AM, Wojnarowicz J, Wozniak B, Golas M, Swoboda-Kopec E, Lojkowski W, Mierzwinska-Nastalska E. Significance of polymethylmethacrylate (PMMA) modification by zinc oxide nanoparticles for fungal biofilm formation. Int J Pharm 2016; 510: 323-335.
- Cierech M, Wojnarowicz J, Szmigiel D, Baczkowski B, Grudniak AM, Wolska KI, Lojkowski W, Mierzwinska-Nastalska E. Preparation and characterization of ZnO-PMMA resin nanocomposites for denture bases. Acta Bioeng Biomech 2016; 18: 31-41.
- Nam KY, Lee CH, Lee CJ. Antifungal and physical characteristics of modified denture base acrylic incorporated with silver nanoparticles. Gerodontology 2012; 29: e413-419.

- Lipovsky A, Nitzan Y, Gedanken A, Lubart R. Antifungal activity of ZnO nanoparticles--the role of ROS mediated cell injury. Nanotechnology 2011; 22: 105101.
- 15. Aydin Sevinc B, Hanley L. Antibacterial activity of dental composites containing zinc oxide nanoparticles. J Biomed Mater Res B Appl Biomater 2010; 94: 22-31.
- Niu LN, Fang M, Jiao K, Tang LH, Xiao YH, Shen LJ, Chen JH. Tetrapod-like zinc oxide whisker enhancement of resin composite. J Dent Res 2010; 89: 746-750.
- Padmavathy N, Vijayaraghavan R. Enhanced bioactivity of ZnO nanoparticles-an antimicrobial study. Sci Technol Adv Mater 2008; 9: 035004.
- 18. Tam KH, Djurišić AB, Chan CMN, Xi YY, Tse CW, Leung YH, Chan WK, Leung FCC, Au DWT. Antibacterial activity of ZnO nanorods prepared by a hydrothermal method. Thin Solid Films 2008; 516: 6167–6174.
- 19. Tavassoli Hojati S, Alaghemand H, Hamze F, Ahmadian Babaki F, Rajab-Nia R, Rezvani MB, Kaviani M, Atai M. Antibacterial, physical and mechanical properties of flowable resin composites containing zinc oxide nanoparticles. Dent Mater 2013; 29: 495-505.
- 20. Bressy C, Ngo V, Ziarelli F, Margaillan A. New insights into the adsorption of 3-(Trimethoxysilyl)propylmethacrylate on hydroxylated ZnO nanopowders. Langmuir 2012; 28: 3290–3297.

- 21. Tang E, Cheng G, Ma X. Preparation of nano-ZnO/PMMA composite particles via grafting of the copolymer onto the surface of zinc oxide nanoparticles. Powder Technology 2006; 161: 209–214.
- 22. Xia Y, Zhang F, Xie H, Gu N. Nanoparticle-reinforced resin-based dental composites. J Dent 2008; 36: 450-455.
- Yildirim-Bicer AZ, Peker I, Akca G, Celik I. In vitro antifungal evaluation of seven different disinfectants on acrylic resins. Biomed Res Int 2014; 2014: 519098.
- 24. Raghupathi KR, Koodali RT, Manna AC. Size-dependent bacterial growth inhibition and mechanism of antibacterial activity of zinc oxide nanoparticles. Langmuir 2011; 27: 4020-4028.
- 25. Jones N, Ray B, Ranjit KT, Manna AC. Antibacterial activity of ZnO nanoparticle suspensions on a broad spectrum of microorganisms. FEMS Microbiol Lett 2008; 279: 71-76.
- 26. Dutta RK, Nenavathu BP, Gangishetty MK, Reddy AV. Studies on antibacterial activity of ZnO nanoparticles by ROS induced lipid peroxidation. Colloids Surf B Biointerfaces 2012; 94: 143-150.
- 27. ISO 20795-1. Dentistry-Base polymers-Part1: Denture base polymers. Geneva: International Organization for Standardization; Geneva, Switzerland. 2013.
- 28. Arksornnukit M, Takahashi H, Nishiyama N. Effects of silane coupling agent amount on mechanical properties and hydrolytic durability of composite resin after hot water storage. Dent Mater J 2004; 23: 31-36.
- 29. Plueddemann EP. Silane coupling agent. New York: Plenum Press; 1991.

- 30. Liu Q, Ding J, Chambers DE, Debnath S, Wunder SL, Baran GR. Fillercoupling agent-matrix interactions in silica/polymethylmethacrylate composites. J Biomed Mater Res 2001; 57: 384-393.
- 31. Chaijareenont P, Takahashi H, Nishiyama N, Arksornnukit M. Effects of silane coupling agents and solutions of different polarity on PMMA bonding to alumina. Dent Mater J 2012; 31: 610-616.
- 32. Nishiyama N, Shick R, Ishida H. Adsorption behavior of a silane coupling agent on colloidal silica studied by gel permeation chromatography. J Colloid Interface Sci 1991; 143: 146-156.
- 33. Sideridou ID, Karabela MM. Effect of the amount of 3methacyloxypropyltrimethoxysilane coupling agent on physical properties of dental resin nanocomposites. Dent Mater 2009; 25: 1315-1324.
- 34. Chaijareenont P, Takahashi H, Nishiyama N, Arksornnukit M. Effect of different amounts of 3-methacryloxypropyltrimethoxysilane on the flexural properties and wear resistance of alumina reinforced PMMA. Dent Mater J 2012; 31: 623-628.
- 35. Arkles B. Silane coupling agent chemistry. Pennsylvania: Petrarch Systems Catalogue; 1997, p.59.
- 36. Kanie T, Arikawa H, Fujii K, Inoue K. Physical and mechanical properties of PMMA resins containing gamma-methacryloxypropyltrimethoxysilane. J Oral Rehabil 2004; 31: 166-171.

- 37. Nishiyama N, Nagashima M, Nemoto K, Suzuki K, Kumagai M. The effect of heat-treatment on the adsorption behavior of silane coupling agent. Proceeding of ICCM-10. Whistler, B.C., Canada 1995; 5: 565-572.
- 38. Nishiyama N, Komatsu K, Fukai K, Nemoto K. Influence of adsorption characteristics of silane on the hydrolytic stability of silane at the silicamatrix interface. Composites 1995; 26; 309-313.
- 39. Nakornchai N, Arksornnukit M, Kamonkhantikul K, Takahashi H. The pH effect of solvent in silanization on fluoride released and mechanical properties of heat-cured acrylic resin containing fluoride-releasing filler. Dent Mater J 2016; 35: 440-446.
- 40. Arksornnukit M, Takahashi H, Nishiyama N, Pavasant P. Effects of heat and pH in silanation process on flexural properties and hydrolytic durabilities of composite resin after hot water storage. Dent Mater J 2004; 23: 175-179.
- Ishida H, Miller JD. Substrate effects on the chemisorbed and physisorbed layers of methacryl silane modified particulate minerals. Macromolecules 1984; 17: 1659-1666.
- 42. Karabela MM, Sideridou ID. Synthesis and study of properties of dental resin composites with different nanosilica particles size. Dent Mater 2011; 27: 825-835.
- 43. Miller JD, Ishida H. Quantitive monomolecular coverage of inoraganic particulates by methacryl-functional silanes. Surf Sci 1984; 148: 601-622.
- 44. Soderholm KJM, Shang SW. Molecular orientation of silane at the surface of colloidal silica. J Dent Res 1993; 72: 1050-1054.

- 45. Heydecke G, Schnitzer S, Turp JC. The color of human gingiva and mucosa: visual measurement and description of distribution. Clin Oral Investig 2005; 9: 257-265.
- 46. ISO/TR 28642. Dentistry- Guidance on colour measurement. Geneva: International Organization for Standardization; Geneva, Switzerland. 2016.
- 47. Alghazali N, Burnside G, Moallem M, Smith P, Preston A, Jarad FD. Assessment of perceptibility and acceptability of color difference of denture teeth. J Dent 2012; 40 Suppl 1: e10-17.
- 48. Douglas RD, Steinhauer TJ, Wee AG. Intraoral determination of the tolerance of dentists for perceptibility and acceptability of shade mismatch. J Prosthet Dent 2007; 97: 200-208.
- 49. Ho DK, Ghinea R, Herrera LJ, Angelov N, Paravina RD. Color Range and Color Distribution of Healthy Human Gingiva: a Prospective Clinical Study. Sci Rep 2015; 5: 18498.
- 50. Hyun HK, Kim S, Lee C, Shin TJ, Kim YJ. Colorimetric distribution of human attached gingiva and alveolar mucosa. J Prosthet Dent 2017; 117: 294-302.
- 51. Ito M, Marx DB, Cheng AC, Wee AG. Proposed shade guide for attached gingiva--a pilot study. J Prosthodont 2015; 24: 182-187.
- 52. Paravina RD, Ghinea R, Herrera LJ, Bona AD, Igiel C, Linninger M, Sakai M, Takahashi H, Tashkandi E, Perez Mdel M. Color difference thresholds in dentistry. J Esthet Restor Dent 2015; 27 Suppl 1: S1-9.

- 53. Sailer I, Fehmer V, Ioannidis A, Hammerle CH, Thoma DS. Threshold value for the perception of color changes of human gingiva. Int J Periodontics Restorative Dent 2014; 34: 757-762.
- 54. User manual. EasyMatch QC version 4.10 and Above User's Manual. Reston: Hunter Associates Laboratory, Inc.; Reston, Virginia, USA. 2009.
- 55. Hansen CM. The three dimensional solubility parameter and solvent diffusion coneffecient. Copenhagen: Danish Technical Press; 1967, p.18.
- 56. Silane coupling agent. Shin-Etsu Silicone [Internet]. 2017 [cited 2017 Jul 24]. Available from: <u>http://www.shinetsusilicone-global.com/</u>.
- 57. NCCLS. Reference Method for Broth Dilution Antifungal Susceptibility Testing of Yeasts; Apporved Standard-Second edition. NCCLS document M27-A2 [ISBN 1-56238-469-4]. NCCLS, 940 West Valley Road, Suite 1400, Wayne, Pennsylvania 19087-1898 USA, 2002.
- 58. Kanemitsu K, Kunishima H, Imasaka T, Ishikawa S, Harigae H, Yamato S, Hirayama Y, Kaku M. Evaluation of a low-temperature steam and formaldehyde sterilizer. J Hosp Infect 2003; 55: 47-52.
- 59. Dean JA. Lange's handbook of chemistry. 15 ed. New York: McGraw-Hill, Inc.; 1999. p.338,340.
- 60. Berte JJ, Hansen CA. Custom tinting denture bases by visible light cure lamination. J Prosthodont 1995; 4: 129-132.
- 61. Zhang X, Zhang X, Zhu B, Lin K, Chang J. Mechanical and thermal properties of denture PMMA reinforced with silanized aluminum borate whiskers. Dent Mater J 2012; 31: 903-908.



# APPENDIX



**Chulalongkorn University** 

#### VITA

Krid Kamonkhantikul was born on October 31th, 1985 in Nakorn Ratchasima Province, Thailand. He graduated the degree of Doctor of Dental surgery with Honors from Faculty of Dentistry, Chulalongkorn University in 2010. Then, he had worked as a dentist at Na Kae Hospital at Nakorn Pranom Province for 1 year. After that, he attended the course of Graduate Diploma of Clinical Sciences Program and graduated in 2012. After graduation, he started working as the lecturer in Department of Prosthodontics, Faculty of Dentistry, Chulalongkorn University and was assigned to attend the Doctor of Philosophy Program in Prosthodontics, Department of Prosthodontics, Faculty of Dentistry, Chulalongkorn University.

